N3312

### L2/07-139R

# Proposal to Encode North Indian Accounting Signs in Plane 1 of ISO/IEC 10646

Anshuman Pandey University of Michigan Ann Arbor, Michigan, U.S.A. pandey@umich.edu

May 15, 2007

### Contents

	Proposal Summary Form	i
1	Introduction	1
2	Acknowledgments	2
3	Characters Proposed	2
	3.1 Basis for Character Shapes	2
4	Overview of the Accounting Signs	3
	4.1 Fraction Signs	3
	4.2 Independent Fraction Signs	4
	4.3 Quarter Mark	5
	4.4 Placeholder Mark	6
	4.5 Currency Mark	6
	4.6 Quantity Mark	8
5	Signs Not Proposed	10
	5.1 Signs for Units of Weight	10
	5.2 Signs for Units of Measure	11
6	Relationship to Other Indian Notation Systems	11
	6.1 Gujarati Fractions	12
	6.2 Bengali Currency Marks and Fractions	12
	6.3 Malayalam Fractions and Letter-Numerals	13
	6.4 Raqm Fractions and Rupee Mark	13
7	References	13

### List of Figures

1	Currency, weights, and measures marks that appear in Kaithi documents	16
2	System of notating currency in Kaithi using fractions and the currency mark	17
3	Excerpt showing the forms of regular and independent fractions in Gujarati	17
4	Excerpt from a Gujarati grammar showing the writing of fractions after a zero	17
5	Use of fractions and the currency mark in the Mahajani script	18
6	Pricelist for books showing the use of the rupee mark	19
7	Pricelist for books showing the use of the rupee mark	19
8	Title page showing the use of fractions to denote price	20
9	Title page showing the use of the rupee mark and fractions to denote price	20
10	The use of the rupee mark in Devanagari text	20
11	Title page showing rupee sign and fractions in Gurmukhi	21
12	The use of the rupee mark in Gurmukhi text	21
13	Excerpt from Green's Hindi grammar showing the method of writing currencies	22
14	Excerpt from Greaves's Hindi grammar showing variant forms of the angled fractions	22
15	Excerpt from Vajpeyee's Hindi grammar showing the method of writing currencies	23
16	Excerpt from Bhide's Marathi grammar showing the writing of fractions	23
17	Excerpt from Navalkar's Marathi grammar showing variants of the independent fractions	23
18	Excerpt from a Marathi grammar showing the writing of the placeholder mark	24
19	Excerpt from a Marathi dictionary showing historical variants of the placeholder mark	24
20	Excerpt from Kellogg's Hindi grammar showing the method of writing currencies	24
21	System of measures and currency notation in the Maithili script	25
22	Method of writing currency in the Maithili script	25
23	Excerpt from Pořízka's Hindi grammar showing fractions used for time notation	26
24	Excerpt from Pořízka's Hindi grammar showing the method of writing currencies	26
25	Excerpt from Scholberg's Hindi grammar showing currency and weight notation	27
26	Excerpt from Peshwa records showing the use of the placeholder mark	28
27	Accounting signs from the Nirnaya-Sagar Devanagari font	29
28	Accounting signs from the Monotype Devanagari font	30
29	Excerot from Government of India's proposal for Gujarati fractions	31
30	Method of writing fractions and currency in the Bengali script	32
31	The method of writing numerals in Malayalam	
32	The method of writing fractions in Malayalam	32

### **List of Tables**

1 Glyph chart and character names and properties for the North Indian Accounting Signs. . . . 15

#### ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2 PROPOSAL SUMMARY FORM TO ACCOMPANY SUBMISSIONS FOR ADDITIONS TO THE REPERTOIRE OF ISO/IEC 10646<sup>1</sup>

Please fill all the sections A, B and C below. Please read Principles and Procedures Document (P & P) from http://www.dkuug.dk/JTC1/SC2/WG2/docs/principles.html for guidelines and details before filling this form. Please ensure you are using the latest Form from http://www.dkuug.dk/JTC1/SC2/WG2/docs/summaryform.html. See also http://www.dkuug.dk/JTC1/SC2/WG2/docs/roadmaps.html for latest Roadmaps.

#### A. Administrative

- 1. Title: Proposal to Encode North Indian Accounting Signs in Plane 1 of ISO/IEC 10646
- 2. Requester's name: University of California, Berkeley Script Encoding Initiative (Universal Scripts Project); author: Anshuman Pandey (pandey@umich.edu)
- 3. Requester type (Member Body/Liaison/Individual contribution): Liaison contribution
- 4. Submission date: May 15, 2007
- 5. Requester's reference (if applicable): N/A
- 6. Choose one of the following:
  - (a) This is a complete proposal: Yes
  - (b) or, More information will be provided later: No

#### **B.** Technical - General

- 1. Choose one of the following:
  - (a) This proposal is for a new script (set of characters): **Yes** 
    - i. Proposed name of script: North Indian Accounting Signs
  - (b) The proposal is for addition of character(s) to an existing block: No
  - i. Name of the existing block: N/A
- 2. Number of characters in proposal: 13
- 3. Proposed category: A Contemporary
- 4. Is a repertoire including character names provided?: Yes
  - (a) If Yes, are the names in accordance with the "character naming guidelines" in Annex L of P&P document?: Yes
  - (b) Are the character shapes attached in a legible form suitable for review?: Yes
- 5. Who will provide the appropriate computerized font (ordered preference: True Type, or PostScript format) for publishing the standard?: **Anshuman Pandey**; **True Type** 
  - (a) If available now, identify source(s) for the font and indicate the tools used: The font contains normalized forms of signs found in hand-written and printed documents. It was drawn by Anshuman Pandey using Metafont and converted to True Type format using FontForge.
- 6. References:
  - (a) Are references (to other character sets, dictionaries, descriptive texts etc.) provided?: Yes
  - (b) Are published examples of use (such as samples from newspapers, magazines, or other sources) of proposed characters attached?: **Yes**
- 7. Special encoding issues:
  - (a) Does the proposal address other aspects of character data processing (if applicable) such as input, presentation, sorting, searching, indexing, transliteration etc. (if yes please enclose information)? Yes; see text of the proposal.
- 8. Additional Information: Submitters are invited to provide any additional information about Properties of the proposed Character(s) or Script that will assist in correct understanding of and correct linguistic processing of the proposed character(s) or script. Examples of such properties are: Casing information, Numeric information, Currency information, Display behaviour information such as line breaks, widths etc., Combining behaviour, Spacing behaviour, Directional behaviour, Default Collation behaviour, relevance in Mark Up contexts, Compatibility equivalence and other Unicode normalization related information. See the Unicode standard at http://www.unicode.org for such information on other scripts. Also see http://www.unicode.org/Public/UNIDATA/UCD.html and associated Unicode Technical Reports for information needed for consideration by the Unicode Technical Committee for inclusion in the Unicode Standard. Character properties, numeric information, and currency information are included.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Form number: N3102-F (Original 1994-10-14; Revised 1995-01, 1995-04, 1996-04, 1996-08, 1999-03, 2001-05, 2001-09, 2003-11, 2005-01, 2005-09, 2005-10, 2007-03)

#### **C. Technical - Justification**

- 1. Has this proposal for addition of character(s) been submitted before?: No
- 2. Has contact been made to members of the user community (for example: National Body, user groups of the script or characters, other experts, etc.)? **Yes** 
  - (a) If Yes, with whom?: Madhav Deshpande (Professor, University of Michigan, mmdesh@umich.edu)
    i. If Yes, available relevant documents: N/A
- 3. Information on the user community for the proposed characters (for example: size, demographics, information technology use, or publishing use) is included? **Yes** 
  - (a) Reference: The signs in this proposal were used by the general populace of north India.
- 4. The context of use for the proposed characters (type of use; common or rare): **Common** 
  - (a) Reference: These signs were used to write currency, weight, measurement, and time notations in several contemporary and historical scripts of north India.
- 5. Are the proposed characters in current use by the user community?: No.
  - (a) If Yes, where? Reference: The signs are not commonly used at present. They are attested in written and printed materials through at least the 1970s.
- 6. After giving due considerations to the principles in the P&P document must the proposed characters be entirely in the BMP?: No
  - (a) If Yes, is a rationale provided?: N/A
    - i. If Yes, reference: N/A
- 7. Should the proposed characters be kept together in a contiguous range (rather than being scattered)? Yes
- 8. Can any of the proposed characters be considered a presentation form of an existing character or character sequence? No
  - (a) If Yes, is a rationale for its inclusion provided?: N/A
    - i. If Yes, reference: N/A
- 9. Can any of the proposed characters be encoded using a composed character sequence of either existing characters or other proposed characters? **No** 
  - (a) If Yes, is a rationale provided?: N/A
    - i. If Yes, reference: N/A
- 10. Can any of the proposed character(s) be considered to be similar (in appearance or function) to an existing character? **Yes** 
  - (a) If Yes, is a rationale for its inclusion provided? Yes
    - i. If Yes, reference: See text of proposal
- 11. Does the proposal include use of combining characters and/or use of composite sequences (see clauses 4.12 and 4.14 in ISO/IEC 10646-1: 2000)? No
  - (a) If Yes, is a rationale for such use provided?  $\ensuremath{\text{N/A}}$ 
    - i. If Yes, reference: N/A
  - (b) Is a list of composite sequences and their corresponding glyph images (graphic symbols) provided? No
     i. If Yes, reference: N/A
- 12. Does the proposal contain characters with any special properties such as control function or similar semantics? No(a) If Yes, describe in detail (include attachment if necessary): N/A
- 13. Does the proposal contain any Ideographic compatibility character(s)? No
  - (a) If Yes, is the equivalent corresponding unified ideographic character(s) identified? N/A
     i. If Yes, reference: N/A

### 1 Introduction

This is a proposal to encode North Indian accounting signs in the Universal Character Set (UCS) (ISO/IEC 10646). The intention is to provide a set of signs used to write fractions, currency, weight, measures, and time notations in major contemporary and historical scripts of north India. Many of these signs were initially proposed for inclusion in the UCS as part of the Kaithi script block in L2/05-343.<sup>1</sup> Additional research indicated that, in addition to Kaithi, these signs were also used with regularity in the Devanagari, Gujarati, Gurmukhi, Mahajani, Maithili, and Modi scripts, as well as in minor regional scripts. Although the signs were used in several scripts, they retained consistency in form, meaning, and usage.

On account of the common typology and semantics of these signs, they are proposed for inclusion in the UCS as a single block to be named "North Indian Accounting Signs." The block is recommended for allocation in the Supplementary Multilingual Plane (SMP) (Plane 1) of the UCS. The signs may be categorized as elements of a "Category A" (contemporary) or a "Category B.1" (specialized) script, as per the criteria specified in ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2 N3002.<sup>2</sup> The unified encoding of these signs within a generic block, instead of as part of the repertoire of individual scripts or within an existing block, will faciliate their use across writing systems in a manner that reflects historical and contemporary practices.

The name "North Indian" is a geographical descriptor that refers to the region in which these signs were used. This region encompasses the modern Indian states of Bihar, Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Punjab, Rajasthan, and Uttar Pradesh. The signs were also used in some areas of Nepal.<sup>3</sup> The signs may be considered as belonging to an accounting and numerical notation system used in north India that is distinct from systems used in other regions of South Asia. The differences of writing digits, fractions, and various quantities is influenced by the manner in which numerical notation is represented in regional scripts and script families. For instance, the method of representing fractions in Malayalam and Tamil is distinct from that in Devanagari, and all three are different from the method used in Bengali. Therefore, the intent of the "North Indian Accounting Signs" block is to provide a set of signs that reflect a particular regional orthography, similar to the "South Indian Supplement," which was proposed for the purpose of including fraction and other numerical signs used in south Indian scripts.

The ubiquity of these signs is evidenced from their presence in documents ranging from newspaper media to product catalogues; from legal documents to accounting records; from school primers to scribal handbooks; and personal records and correspondence. Moreover, the signs were described in grammar texts, suggesting that these signs and the the numerical information they represented were considered a rudimentary part of Hindi, Gujarati, and other languages.

The use of the accounting signs and its associated numerical notation diminished in the latter half of the 20th century when India changed its currency and system of measurement. On April 1, 1957, India introduced a new coinage system called "Naya Paisa" (नया पैसा), which is based on the decimal system.<sup>4</sup> On October 1, 1958, the metric system of weights and measures was introduced in India.<sup>5</sup> The change of the currency base from hexadecimal to decimal and the adoption of the metric system rendered the old accounting signs obsolete. The fraction signs and currency and quantity marks continued to be used in writing and in print through the 1970s. The fraction signs are still used today in a limited capacity in advertisements and for other specialized purposes.

An encoding for North Indian Accounting Signs in the UCS is necessary for the complete encoding of written and printed materials in north Indian scripts. As these signs accompanied a variety of historical and contemporary scripts, it is necessary to identify them uniquely so that they may supplement such scripts in electronic plain-text. Such an encoding is important to users who require the ability to accurately represent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pandey, 2005. <sup>2</sup> International Organization for Standardization, 2005: 4. <sup>3</sup> Money, 1942: viii. <sup>4</sup> Pořízka, 1972: 513.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pořízka, 1972: 304.

numerical notation and accounting signs in order to preserve source materials and in order to reproduce and represent such materials in digital media.

### 2 Acknowledgments

This project was made possible in part by a grant from the United States National Endowment for the Humanities (NEH), which funded the Universal Scripts Project (part of the Script Encoding Initiative at the University of California, Berkeley).

### **3** Characters Proposed

There are thirteen characters proposed as part of the North Indian Accounting Signs block. Included in this set are six fraction signs, three independent fraction signs, one quarter mark, one placeholder mark, one currency mark, and one quantity mark:

- NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE SIXTEENTH
- = NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE EIGHTH
- NORTH INDIAN FRACTION THREE SIXTEENTHS
- NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER
- Ⅱ NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE HALF
- III NORTH INDIAN FRACTION THREE QUARTERS
- · NORTH INDIAN INDEPENDENT FRACTION ONE QUARTER
- $\cdot \| \cdot \quad \text{ NORTH INDIAN INDEPENDENT FRACTION ONE HALF }$
- $\cdot ||| \cdot \quad \text{NORTH INDIAN INDEPENDENT FRACTION THREE QUARTERS}$
- NORTH INDIAN QUARTER MARK
- ۲ NORTH INDIAN PLACEHOLDER MARK
- ) NORTH INDIAN RUPEE MARK
- S NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK

The signs and their properties are discussed throughout the proposal and given in the Unicode Character Database format in Table 1. Although the signs proposed here require only a single row in the SMP, it is requested that the North Indian Accounting Signs block be allocated two rows (16 code-points) to accommodate the possible addition of signs in the future.

Other signs for denoting weights and measures have been identified and are discussed in section 5. There is insufficient information regarding the use of these signs. Therefore, they are not presently not proposed for encoding. If and when information about these signs becomes available and if additional signs are later identified, proposals for their inclusion in the set will be submitted for formal review. The signs proposed here are sufficient for the encoding and processing of accounting and numerical notation in Indian language documents.

### **3.1** Basis for Character Shapes

All of the North Indian Accounting Signs proposed here are found in both written and printed materials. The font for the signs was drawn by Anshuman Pandey. The digitized letterforms were designed to express fidelity to the forms of the signs as found in metal fonts.

### 4 Overview of the Accounting Signs

### 4.1 Fraction Signs

**Description** The fraction signs proposed here were used throughout north India to indicate currency, weights, measures, time, and other units. The signs represent fraction values of a base-16 (hexadecimal) notation system. They were adapted for writing fractions of other base systems (see section 4.5). The fraction signs appear in both written and printed materials in several north Indian scripts. Their use in written documents is attested to at least the 16th century CE and in texts printed as late as 1970. The signs are still used in a limited capacity; for example, they were used in a Gujarati newspaper from 2004 to write time notations (Figure 29). The fraction signs are part of the glyph set of metal fonts such as Nirnaya-Sagar Pica No. 1 (see Figure 27) and Monotype Devanagari (see Figure 28). The use of fraction signs diminished after 1957, when India adopted the metric system and changed its currency to decimal notation.

The fractions are written as follows:

-	1/16	1-	$\frac{5}{16} [= \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{16}]$	11-	$\%_{16} [= \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{16}]$	-	$\frac{13}{16} [= \frac{3}{4} + \frac{1}{16}]$
=	1/8 (2/16)	=	$\%_{16} [= \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{8}]$	=	$\frac{5}{8} (\frac{10}{16}) [= \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{8}]$	=	$\frac{7}{8} (\frac{14}{16}) [= \frac{3}{4} + \frac{1}{8}]$
11	3/16	E	$\frac{7}{16} [= \frac{1}{4} + \frac{3}{16}]$	≡	$\frac{11}{16} [= \frac{1}{2} + \frac{3}{16}]$	≡	$\frac{15}{16} [= \frac{3}{4} + \frac{3}{16}]$
L	1/4 (1/16)	Ш	1/2 (%16)	ш	<sup>3</sup> / <sub>4</sub> ( <sup>1</sup> / <sub>16</sub> )	<b>१</b>	1

**Typology** The 15 fractions are written using six elemental forms. All fractions can be created from these six through an additive process. Only these six elemental forms are proposed for encoding in the UCS:

- NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE SIXTEENTH
- = NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE EIGHTH
- NORTH INDIAN FRACTION THREE SIXTEENTHS
- NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER
- **∥** NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE HALF
- III NORTH INDIAN FRACTION THREE QUARTERS

Theoretically, even these six forms can be reduced to the two primitives  $\neg$  NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE SIXTEENTH and | NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER. The four other elemental forms may be considered as composite characters created from sequences of these primitives. For example, || NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE HALF may be composed by writing NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER twice as | + | = ||. Similarily,  $\leq$  NORTH INDIAN FRACTION THREE SIXTEENTHS may be composed by writing NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE SIXTEENTH three times as  $\neg + \neg + \neg = \leq$ . The traditional practice, however, is to consider these six elemental fraction signs as precomposed signs, and they appear as such in the metal fonts of various scripts. The forms of the fractions are uniform across north Indian scripts.

**Names** The fraction signs one-quarter (I), one-half (II), and three-quarters (III) have unique names in north Indian languages. In Hindi, the names are *pāo* (पाओ) or *pāv* (पाव), *ādhā* (आधा), and *paune* (पोन), respectively. In Gujarati, the names are *pā* (પા) or *pāo* (પાઓ), *ādho* (આધો) or *ardho* (અધો), and *poņo* (પોણો) (see section 6.1 for further details).

**Properties** The fraction signs belong to the Unicode general category "Number, Other" (No). The appropriate numeric value should assigned to each fraction: " $\frac{1}{16}$ " for NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE SIXTEENTH,

"<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>" for NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE HALF, etc. The fraction signs are always written left-to-right and should be assigned bidirectional values of "Left-to-Right" (L).

**Orthography** The vertical fraction signs are always written before the angled fraction signs. For example, the fraction  $\frac{5}{8}$  is correctly written as  $\parallel \neq$ , not as  $\neq \parallel$ . The vertical alignment of the angled fraction signs vary in written and printed texts. In some texts they are vertically centered along the x-height, in other texts they are aligned at the top. The latter practice is followed here.

**Variants** Variant forms exist for NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE SIXTEENTH, NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE EIGHTH, and NORTH INDIAN FRACTION THREE SIXTEENTHS. These fractions are also written horizontally instead of at an angle:  $\neg$  may be written as  $\neg$ ;  $\neq$  as =; and  $\neq$  as  $\equiv$  (see Figure 13).

**Homoglyphs** The form of | NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER and || NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE HALF resemble the signs *dandā* and double *dandā*. Sequences consisting of a digit followed by a *dandā* are used as labels in enumerated lists in Devanagari similar to the practice in Latin of writing digit + period; for example '?I' (U+0968 DEVANAGARI DIGIT TWO + U+0964 DEVANAGARI DANDA) represents "item N<sup>o</sup> 2." In isolation, such a sequence might also represent the fraction 2<sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub>, written as '?I' (U+0968 DEVANAGARI DIGIT TWO + NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER). The proper meaning of such sequences, however, is apparent from context. Among signs used in other Indian systems of accounting notation, NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER resembles | U+09F7 BENGALI CURRENCY NUMERATOR FOUR.

#### 4.2 Independent Fraction Signs

- · NORTH INDIAN INDEPENDENT FRACTION ONE QUARTER
- ·II· NORTH INDIAN INDEPENDENT FRACTION ONE HALF
- ·III· NORTH INDIAN INDEPENDENT FRACTION THREE QUARTERS

**Description** The signs for the fractions  $\frac{1}{4}$ ,  $\frac{1}{2}$ , and  $\frac{3}{4}$  have different forms when they are written independently. These independent forms were used more generally in Maharashtra and Gujarat, and they appear in materials written and printed in the Devanagari (Figure 16) and Gujarati (Figure 3) scripts.

**Typology** The independent fraction signs are created by writing mid-point dots to the left and right of the regular fraction signs. One-quarter is represented as  $\cdot \cdot$ ; one-half is represented as  $\cdot \cdot \cdot$ ; and three-quarters is represented as  $\cdot \cdot \cdot$ ;

**Properties** The independent fraction signs belong to the Unicode general category "Number, Other" (No). They are pre-composed characters. The appropriate numeric value should assigned to each independent fraction: "¼" for NORTH INDIAN INDEPENDENT FRACTION ONE QUARTER, etc. Each sign has the bidirectional value of "Left-to-Right" (L).

**Orthography** The independent fraction signs are not used for writing mixed fractions and are not written with currency or quantity marks. For example, " $4 \bar{a}n\bar{a}s$ " is written as  $\cdot \cdot$  and as  $\downarrow$ , but never as  $\cdot \cdot \cdot$ ; " $3 rupay\bar{a}$  and  $8 \bar{a}n\bar{a}s$ " is written as  $\exists \parallel$  and as  $\exists \parallel \circ$  (using the NORTH INDIAN QUARTER MARK), never as  $\exists \cdot \parallel \cdot$ .

**Variants** There are variant methods of writing the independent fraction signs. One is to write the regular fraction signs after the digit zero with no dots, as  $\circ I$ ,  $\circ II$ , and  $\circ III$  (see Figure 4). The other is to write the dots at the baseline instead of at the middle of the sign, as I., II., and III. (see Figure 17). The latter method appears to be a substitute for the lack of appropriate glyphs for independent fraction signs in a font. A third

method might be to write the signs as composite characters with the NORTH INDIAN QUARTER MARK: 010, 0110, and 01110. However, the independent signs are considered to be precomposed forms.

#### 4.3 Quarter Mark

#### • NORTH INDIAN QUARTER MARK

**Properties** The NORTH INDIAN QUARTER MARK belongs to the Unicode general category "Symbol, Other" (No). It has a bidirectional value of "Left-to-Right" (L).

**Orthography** The quarter mark is written after NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER, NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE HALF, OF NORTH INDIAN FRACTION THREE QUARTERS. Grierson shows the use of the quarter mark to denote quarter units of the *chatāmk* weight unit:<sup>6</sup>

Chhatánks5-1, 5= 2, 5= 3, 520 4, 52= 6 52= 7, 520 8, 521 9, 5220 12.

The same practice is used for writing  $katth\bar{a}$  measurement values:<sup>7</sup>

Katthás 5 8 1, 52 2, 53 3, 50 4, 2° 5, 29 6, 10 10, 100 15.

The use of the quarter mark is not mandatory. In illustrating the writing of *ser* values, Grierson shows the quarter mark used for writing the quantity "10 *ser*," but not for "20 *ser*" and "30 *ser*":<sup>8</sup>

**Homoglyphs** The quarter mark resembles the digit zero as found in Indic scripts and  $\circ$  U+0970 DEVANA-GARI ABBREVIATION SIGN. Among other signs used in different Indian accounting notation systems, it resembles  $\circ$  U+09F9 BENGALI CURRENCY DENOMINATOR SIXTEEN. The rules for the use of NORTH INDIAN QUARTER MARK are different from that of U+09F9 BENGALI CURRENCY DENOMINATOR SIXTEEN. Figure 30 shows U+09F9 BENGALI CURRENCY DENOMINATOR SIXTEEN used as a mark for writing  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  currency values. The NORTH INDIAN QUARTER MARK does not have such a function. It is reserved specifically for marking the fractions signs for  $\frac{1}{4}$ ,  $\frac{1}{2}$ , and  $\frac{3}{4}$ .

**Variants** The quarter mark may also be written as a closed dot, as is done with the independent fraction signs. The following example of Kaithi text shows the use of fraction signs to write  $rupay\bar{a}$  and  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  values.<sup>9</sup> The circled portion indicates the value  $900^{\circ}$  "17  $rupay\bar{a}$ , 8  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$ ."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Grierson, 1899: Plate IV. <sup>7</sup> Grierson, 1899: Plate IV. <sup>8</sup> Grierson, 1899: Plate IV. <sup>9</sup> Grierson, 1899: Plate X.



#### 4.4 Placeholder Mark

✓ NORTH INDIAN PLACEHOLDER MARK

**Description** The placeholder mark is used to indicate the absence of a unit. It appears in written and printed texts, primarily in Maharashtra, where it is known as  $\bar{a}l\bar{i}$  (आळी) or ali (अळी), and in Gujarati<sup>10</sup> It was a common sign in the Modi script and appears in Peshwa records of the Maratha dynasty from at least the 16th century CE (see Figure 26). The placeholder mark appears in metal fonts such as Nirnaya-Sagar Pica No. 1 (Figure 27), Monotype Devanagari (Figure 28), and Vijapure Devanagari.<sup>11</sup>

**Properties** The placeholder mark belongs to the Unicode general category "Symbol, Other" (So). It has a bidirectional value of "Left-to-Right" (L).

**Orthography** The placeholder mark is reserved for marking the absence of intermediate units, such as the *pavalī* unit of the Maharashtran currency system. For example, the notation  $\Im = represents$  the value "2 *rupayā* and 2 *ānā*," where the placeholder mark indicates "0 *pavalī*" (see Figure 18). If a quantity contains *pavalī*, but no *rupayā*, then the placeholder mark is written after a zero:  $\Im$  "0 *rupayā* and 2 *pavalī*."

**Variants** The placeholder mark has historical variants in Maharashtra and Gujarat, which may reflect forms used in Modi (see Figure 19). The form that appears in Devanagari metal fonts is proposed here as the modern standard form.

#### 4.5 Currency Mark

) NORTH INDIAN RUPEE MARK

**Description** The NORTH INDIAN RUPEE MARK was a used for writing currency notations. The sign appears in both written and printed materials. The use of the quantity mark was not mandatory. When the sign was not used, the different currency units were still distinguishable by the method of writing the units. The semantics of the north Indian rupee mark are similar to the Bengali rupee mark, which is encoded in the Bengali block as  $\ U+09F2$  BENGALI RUPEE MARK.

**Properties** The NORTH INDIAN RUPEE MARK belongs to the Unicode general category "Symbol, Currency" (Sc). It is a non-combining sign. The mark has a bidirectional value of "European Number Terminator" (ET), similar to other currency marks encoded in the UCS.

**Typology** The NORTH INDIAN RUPEE MARK is not a subtending character; that is, its left-ward downstroke does not extend beneath the entire width of the numeric sequence that is it written after. It typically extends beneath the digit it is immediately written after:  $\chi \in J$ . In written materials, the length of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Molesworth, 1857: 58. <sup>11</sup> Naik, 1971: 330.

left-ward stroke may vary and may extend to the right margin of the numeric sequence with which the mark is written. This is a swash feature. The mark has a fixed-length in printed documents.

**Currency Notation** The north Indian currency system is traditionally based on the unit of the *rupayā* (रुपया), normally Anglicized as "rupee." The *rupayā* is comprised of smaller units called the  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  (आना); there are 16  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  in 1 *rupayā*. The  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  consists of smaller units called the  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$  (पाई); there are 12  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$  in 1  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$ .

The manner of writing  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  and  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$  differ by region. The conventional method is to use fraction signs for writing both units (see Figure 13, Figure 14, Figure 15, Figure 20, and Figure 24). Another method uses a combination of fractions and digits. This method is less common and appears to be a regional preference (see Figure 18 and Figure 21).

- The *rupayā* is indicated with digits and is written before the rupee mark: 3) "3 *rupayā*."
- The  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  is typically written using fraction signs and is placed before the rupee mark (see Figure 2):

1 ānā	う	5 ānā	じ	9 ānā	11-)	13 <i>ānā</i>	ミリ
2 ānā	シ	6 ānā	ミ	10 <i>ānā</i>	ミ	14 <i>ānā</i>	111=)
3 ānā	シ	7 ānā	ミ	11 <i>ānā</i>	11三)	15 ānā	≡)
4 ānā	IJ	8 ānā	IJ	12 <i>ānā</i>	III)	1 rupayā	શ

• The  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$  is typically written using fraction signs and is written after the rupee mark:

1 pāī )-	<sup>-</sup> ار 4 <i>pāī</i>	7 pāī ∫∥-	10 <i>pāī</i> J∭⁻
2 pāī )=	5 pāī _)1≓	8 <i>pāī</i> ∫∥=	11 <i>pāī</i> J≡=
ار 3 pāī	6 <i>pāī _</i> ∭	9 <i>pāī</i> ∫∭	1 ānā 🕤

Another method uses a combination of fraction signs and digits:

بر 1 pāī	4 pāī ار 4	7 pāī 🕽 ॥१	ال 10 pāī
2 pāī ्र	5 <i>pāī</i> 」)।२	s <i>pāī</i> الر 8	11 <i>pāī J</i> Ⅲ२
ار 3 <i>pāī</i>	6 <i>pāī</i> <b>∫</b> ∥	9 <i>pāī</i> ∫∭	1 ānā – J

• There are regional methods of grouping  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  and  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$  into intermediate units. Throughout north India, there is a unit called the *paisā* (१९९८), which is equal to four  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$ .<sup>12</sup> Thus,  $\int 3 p\bar{a}\bar{i} = 1 pais\bar{a}; \exists 0 = 2 pais\bar{a}; \exists 0 = 3 pais\bar{a}; and 4 pais\bar{a} = 1 \bar{a}n\bar{a}.$  The quantity represents both "8  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$ " and "2 paisā, 2  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$ ."

In Maharashtra, there is an intermediate unit called the *pavalī* (पवली), which comprises  $4 \bar{a}n\bar{a}$ . There are  $4 paval\bar{i}$  in  $1 rupay\bar{a}$ .<sup>13</sup> Thus, the quantity  $\square$  presents both "13  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$ " and "3 *pavalī*,  $1 \bar{a}n\bar{a}$ ."

**Variants** The NORTH INDIAN RUPEE MARK appears in several printed texts as a mark similar to the Latin ) U+0029 RIGHT PARENTHESIS. In many cases, the mark actually is the right-parenthesis, which is used as a substitute for the rupee mark because the appropriate character is absent from the font. This mark is a variant form of the NORTH INDIAN RUPEE MARK, not an independent or script-specific mark. The practice of using the right-parenthesis is evidenced in texts printed in Devanagari (Figure 6) and Gurmukhi (Figure 7). These figures show the use of parentheses for the intended purpose as well as the use of the right-parenthesis to denote the rupee mark. A comparison of the dual use of the right-parenthesis within a single specimen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In British grammars,  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$  is called 'pie' (and its plural 'pies') and *paisā* is referred to as 'pice.' <sup>13</sup> Darby, 1915: 105.

indicates that the right-parenthesis used in both contexts is the same character. Figure 25 shows the rupee mark in typeset Devanagari text as it should appear and as it is proposed here.

**Modern Notation** India converted its currency system to a decimal system in 1957. The system is based on the two units, *paisā* and *rupayā*. There are 100 *paisā* in 1 *rupayā*, instead of the previous 16 *ānā* and 64 *pāī*. Since decimalization, the use of the NORTH INDIAN RUPEE MARK and fraction signs has diminished. Currency is now written using digits and the rupee mark has been replaced with the abbreviation 'Rs.' U+20A8 RUPEE SIGN ('Re.' is used for a single rupee). It appears in Indic scripts as the syllable *ru*, which is an abbreviation for *rupayā*; for example, Devanagari रुपया is abbreviated रु°. Rupee signs for Bengali, Gujarati, and Tamil are already encoded in the UCS: **b** U+09F3 BENGALI RUPEE SIGN, 3° U+0AF1 GUJARATI RUPEE SIGN, and (ர U+0BF9 TAMIL RUPEE SIGN. The rupee signs are generally written before the currency value. The rupee signs are not mandatory and there is great variation in separating currency units, eg. using a solidus, dash, period, and other Latin punctuation (see Figure 24).

### 4.6 Quantity Mark

#### S NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK

**Description** The NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK was used for writing quantities of weights and measures. This sign appears in both written and printed materials. The use of the quantity mark is not standard. Quantities of Weights and measures are also written without the sign, and constituent units of the quantities are distinguished through orthography. The quantity mark is part of the glyph sets of metal fonts such as Nirnaya-Sagar Pica No. 1 (see Figure 27) and Monotype Devanagari (see Figure 28). An example of the mark in printed Devanagari text is given in Figure 25.

**Properties** The NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK belongs to the Unicode general category "Symbol, Other" (So). It is a non-combining character. Although used for writing weights and measures, it functions like a currency mark. It has the bidirectional value of "European Number Terminator" (ET).

**Typology** The NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK is not a subtending character; that is, its left-ward downstroke does not extend beneath the entire width of the numeric sequence that is it written after. It typically extends beneath the digit it is immediately written after:  $\chi \in \mathcal{G}$  not  $\chi \in \mathcal{G}$ . In written materials, the length of the left-ward stroke may vary and may extend to the right margin of the numeric sequence with which the mark is written. This is a swash feature. The mark has a fixed-length in printed documents.

Notation of Weights The traditional north Indian system of weights is based on the *man* (मन), which is equal to roughly 40 kilograms. One *man* is equal to 40 ser (सेर), and one ser is equal to 16 chatāmk (छटांक). The manner of writing these units is as follows:

- The *man* is indicated using digits and is written to the left of the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK: *S* "5 *man*."
- The *ser* is written with a combination of digits and fractions, and is placed to the left of the quantity mark (see Figure 25):

1 ser	5?	11 ser	J?	21 ser	<b>じ</b> ?	31 ser	Шs
2 ser	52	12 ser	प्र	22 ser	র্ম	32 ser	ાપુર
3 ser	۶٤	13 ser	J3	23 ser	Шз	32 ser	ШЗ
4 ser	58	14 ser	J.S.	24 ser	ISR	32 ser	IISR
5 ser	SX	15 ser	JSX.	25 ser	IJY	32 ser	IIJSX
6 ser	٢٤	16 ser	JE	26 ser	ΨĘ	32 ser	ાાડદ
7 ser	SUD	17 ser	su	27 ser	IS 10	32 ser	IISO
8 ser	Sh	18 ser	Jr.	28 ser	ரு	32 ser	⊪յհ
9 ser	59	19 ser	55	29 ser	US.	39 ser	III ?
10 ser	۲	20 ser	IJ	30 ser	lijs	1 <i>man</i>	25

• The *chatāmk* unit is written with fraction signs and is placed to the right of the quantity mark:

1 chaṭāṃk 5-	5 chațāmk SI-	9 chaṭāṃk S∥ <sup>−</sup>	13 chaṭāṃk SIII-
2 chaṭāṃk S≡	6 chațāṃk ∫I≡	10 chaṭāṃk ∫∥=	14 chaṭāṃk ∫Ⅲ=
3 chaṭāṃk S≣	7 chaṭāṃk ∫l≣	11 chaṭāṃk ∫∥≣	15 chaṭāṃk ∫III≣
اك 4 chaṭāṃk	ا <i>اگ chaṭāṃk</i>	الاك chaṭāṃk	1 ser 5?

- There is regional variation in the positioning of the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK in the writing of ser notation. In addition to the method shown above, another method is to write the entire ser value to right of the quantity mark: ۶ (1 ser), ۶ (10 ser), ۶ (15 ser), ۶ (12 oser), ۶ (20 ser), ۶ (20 ser), ۶ (10 ser), 10 (10 ser)
- There are regional methods of grouping *chaṭāṃk* into intermediate units. Throughout north India, there is a unit called the *pāo* (पाओ) or *pāv* (पाव), which is equal to ¼ of the unit, or in this case, "4 *chaṭāṃk*." Thus, the quantity *s*li≡ represents both the values "11 *chaṭāṃk*" and "2 *pāo*, 3 *chaṭāṃk*."

Notation of Measures The system of measure is based on the  $b\bar{i}gh\bar{a}$  (बीघा). One  $b\bar{i}gh\bar{a}$  is equal to 20  $katth\bar{a}$  (कहा), and one  $katth\bar{a}$  is equal to 20  $dh\bar{u}r$  (धूर).

- The *bīghā* is indicated using digits.
- The *katthā* is written with a combination of digits and fraction signs, and is placed to the left of the quantity mark:

1 kaṭṭhā	25	6 kaṭṭhā	125	11 kaṭṭhā	1195	16 katthā	11195
2 kaṭṭhā	Z	7 kaṭṭhā	135	12 kaṭṭhā	1135	17 kațțhā	11135
3 kaṭṭhā	¥	8 kaṭṭhā	।३	13 kaṭṭhā	ાર્ડો	18 kațthā	1113S
4 kaṭṭhā	rs	9 kaṭṭhā	185	14 kaṭṭhā	1185	19 kațțhā	11185
5 kaṭṭhā	لا	10 kațțhā	IJ	15 kațțhā	IIS	1 bīghā	१

• The *dhūr* is also written with a combination of digits and fractions, and is placed to the right of the quantity mark:

1 dhūr ऽ१	6 dhūr اک	11 dhūr ااک	16 dhūr االر 16 dhūr
2 dhūr ऽ२	7 dhūr JIR	12 dhūr ्र॥२	17 dhūr ्र∭२
3 dhūr ऽ३	8 dhūr ्रा३	ا <i>ک dhūr</i> ال	18 dhūr ∫Ⅲ३
4 dhūr 💕	9 dhūr SIV	۲۵ 14 dhūr	۲9 dhūr ک∭ک
اک <i> dhūr</i>	ااک 10 dhūr	الک 15 dhūr	1 kaṭṭhā Y

**Variants** The proposed shape of  $\int$  is based on the metal type shown in Figure 28 and the example of the sign shown in Figure 25. Other texts show stylistic variation in the shape of the quantity mark (see section 5 for further discussion).

**Homoglyphs** The quantity mark resembles S U+093D DEVANAGARI SIGN AVAGRAHA. It is sometimes indicated by the *avagraha* in printed texts when the correct glyph is absent from the font (see Figure 21). The quantity mark, however, is distinct from *avagraha*, as indicated in Figure 28, which shows both the quantity mark and the *avagraha* as glyphs in the Monotype Devanagari font.

### 5 Signs Not Proposed

The specimens show other signs used for writing quantities for weights and measures. However, it is unclear whether these signs are independent signs or if they are variants of the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK. The contexts in which these signs occur strongly suggest that they are graphical or regional variants of the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK and, therefore, do not require separate encodings.

### 5.1 Signs for Units of Weight

Scholberg shows the use of NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK to write both *chatāmk* and *ser*.<sup>14</sup> However, Grierson shows the use of seemingly distinct signs for writing these quantities. The *chatāmk* values are written with the sign  $5^{15}$ 

The *ser* values are written with the sign  $\mathcal{S}$ :<sup>16</sup>

While Grierson's sign  $\,\varsigma$  is identical to  $\,\varsigma$  NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK, Grierson's  $\,\varsigma$  is visually distinct from the  $\,\varsigma$  quantity mark. The use of different signs to write *chatāmk* and *ser* in Grierson's example is problematic. The use of such distinct signs within a single specimen suggests that *chatāmk* and *ser* may indeed have specific unit signs. Other specimens show consistent use of the quantity mark for writing various units of weight. Scholberg's use of NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK in print indicates a degree of standardization of the quantity sign (see Figure 25). Raya's example of weight notation in the Maithili script shows the use of the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK for writing *kanamā* and *ser* values in a manner consistent with that in Scholberg (see Figure 22). Such consistency across a variety of specimens suggests that Grierson's sign  $\,\varsigma$  is idiosyncratic. It is most likely a swash variant of  $\,\varsigma$ , in which the left-bound stroke curves upwards and over the body of the sign instead of terminating at the foot of the left bearing. Although there is insufficient information to confirm the status of  $\,\varsigma$  as either a unique sign or variant of  $\,\varsigma$ , the manner of writing *ser* in Grierson's example indicates that the  $\,\varsigma$  sign is semantically identical to  $\,\varsigma$ NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK. As such, a separate encoding for  $\,\varsigma$  is unnecessary and it can be unified with NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Scholberg, 1940: 90–91. <sup>15</sup> Grierson, 1899: Plate IV. <sup>16</sup> Grierson, 1899: Plate IV.

#### 5.2 Signs for Units of Measure

Several specimens describe the notation used for units of measure. The system of notation in some specimens suggests that signs used for marking units of measures are variant forms of the NORTH INDIAN QUAN-TITY MARK. Other specimens show what might be considered to be independent signs for units of measure. There is insufficient information to determine if these signs are distinct signs or if they are variant forms of the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK.

Grierson shows two signs used for writing the *katthā* and *dhār* units of measure. The manner of writing *katthā* values in Grierson is:<sup>17</sup>

Katthás 5 9 1, 52 2, 53 3, 50 4, 20 5, 29 6, 10 10, 10 15.

The notation for the  $dh\bar{u}r$  unit is:<sup>18</sup>

Dhurs 559 1, 552 2, 553 3, 558 4, 5520 5, 5529 6, 5522 7. 55220 10, 55229 11, 55220 10,

The form of the sign for *katthā*,  $\zeta$ , is similar to the sign used for writing *chatāmk* in the same specimen:<sup>19</sup>

### Chhatánkas -1, 5= 2, 5= 3, 520 4, 52= 6 52= 7, 520 8, 521 9, 5220 12.

Jha's example in Figure 21 corroborates the assertion that the signs for  $katth\bar{a}$  and chatamk in Grierson are identical. Jha shows the writing of measures using the quantity mark (represented by the Devanagari *avagraha*), which is similar to the use of the same sign in Raya, as shown in Figure 22. Based on such use, it is highly likely that Grierson's sign for  $katth\bar{a}$  is either variant of NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK or identical to it. Thus, the  $katth\bar{a}$  sign may be unified with the quantity mark.

Grierson's sign \$ used for writing the  $dh\bar{u}r$  unit is entirely distinct from the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK. However, it is unclear whether \$ is an independent sign or a composite character created by writing the  $ka\underline{t}\underline{t}h\bar{a}$  sign \$ twice. Grierson is the only source in which the  $dh\bar{u}r$  unit is written in this manner. Jha shows the use of the quantity mark (represented as avagraha) for writing the  $dh\bar{u}r$  unit (Figure 21). On account of insufficient information for Grierson's  $dh\bar{u}r$  sign, it is not being proposed for encoding at present. Given the use of the quantity sign in the available specimens to write both weights and measures, the  $dh\bar{u}r$  unit may be adequately represented by the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK. Grierson's  $dh\bar{u}r$  sign \$ be produced, if necessary, by writing the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK twice as \$.

### 6 Relationship to Other Indian Notation Systems

There are several historical and contemporary regional accounting and numerical notation systems associated within Indic writing systems. A brief description of method of writing fractions and unit marks in these systems is given here for the purpose of illustrating the differences between them and the north Indian accounting and numerical notation signs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Grierson, 1899: Plate IV. <sup>18</sup> Grierson, 1899: Plate IV. <sup>19</sup> Grierson, 1899: Plate IV.

### 6.1 Gujarati Fractions

In 2004, the Government of India presented a proposal (L2/04-358) to encode the fractions one-quarter (1), one-half (11), and three-quarters (111) as part of the Gujarati block under the names GUJARATI SIGN PAO, GUJARATI SIGN AADHO, and GUJARATI SIGN PONO, respectively. The proposal provided an excerpt from a Gujarati newspaper that illustrated the use of fractions in modern Gujarati orthography to denote time (see Figure 29). In his response to the proposal, Eric Muller wrote that the fractions are also used to write quantities than other time.<sup>20</sup> Indeed, as is shown in the present proposal, the fractions are used to write currency, weight, measure, and time values. The use of fractions to denote time is not a practice unique to Gujarati; fractions are also used to denote time in Hindi written in the Devanagari script (see Figure 23).

The signs proposed by the Government of India — GUJARATI SIGN PAO, GUJARATI SIGN ADDHO, and GUJARATI SIGN PONO — are identical to those proposed here — NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER, NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE QUARTER, and NORTH INDIAN FRACTION THREE QUARTERS. Therefore, the three Gujarati fractions should not be encoded separately in the Gujarati block, but should be unified with the signs proposed here (and the code charts commented to reference the regional equivalents). The uniform structure and semantics of fractions in the Devanagari and Gujarati scripts further support the recommendation that such accounting signs be encoded in a script-independent block suitable for use in all scripts.

### 6.2 Bengali Currency Marks and Fractions

There existed in Bengal an accounting system as complete as the one used in north India. Bengali has several script-specific signs for currency notation, which are already encoded in the UCS:

- √ U+09F2 BENGALI RUPEE MARK
- υ+09F3 bengali rupee sign
- ✓ U+09F4 BENGALI CURRENCY NUMERATOR ONE
- ✓ U+09F5 BENGALI CURRENCY NUMERATOR TWO
- シ U+09F6 BENGALI CURRENCY NUMERATOR THREE
- U+09F7 BENGALI CURRENCY NUMERATOR FOUR
- ${\tt V}$  ~~ U+09F8 bengali currency numerator one less than the denominator
- U+09F9 BENGALI CURRENCY DENOMINATOR SIXTEEN

In writing currency values and other quantities, the Bengali system uses a combination of digits and currency numerators (see Figure 30). The major difference between the Bengali and north Indian systems is the method of representing fractions. The Bengali system uses "currency numerators,"<sup>21</sup> while the north Indian system uses additive fraction signs; for example / U+09F4 BENGALI CURRENCY NUMERATOR ONE may be used to represent  $\sim$  NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE SIXTEENTH, etc.

Similar to the north Indian currency system, the Bengali system has the units  $rupay\bar{a}$  (क्रश्र) [or  $t\bar{a}k\bar{a}$  (छाका)],  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  (আना), and  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$  (शांत्र). The  $rupay\bar{a}$  unit is written with digits and is marked with  $\ U+09F2$  BENGALI RU-PEE MARK, which is written after the unit:  $\ \gamma \ "7 \ rupay\bar{a}$ ." The  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  unit is written with currency numerators and is marked with  $\circ$  U+09F9 BENGALI CURRENCY DENOMINATOR SIXTEEN, which is placed after the unit:  $U \ \vartheta \ "11 \ \bar{a}n\bar{a}$ ." Only one currency mark is used when multiple units are written. This sign is typically the sign for the smallest unit. When  $rupay\bar{a}$  and  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  values are written together, the Bengali rupee mark is dropped and only the  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  mark is used: "15  $rupay\bar{a}$  and 3  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$ " is written as  $\Im (\vartheta) \$ , not as  $\Im (\Im \vartheta) \$ . In the north Indian system, the value "15  $rupay\bar{a}$  and 3  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$ " is written as  $\Im (\vartheta) \$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Muller, 2004. <sup>21</sup> The use of the term "currency numerators" for these signs is incorrect. They are also used for writing quantities besides currency.

### 6.3 Malayalam Fractions and Letter-Numerals

Numerical notation in South Indian scripts is represented through the the decimal system (*angapalli*) and an alphabetic system (*akṣarapalli*). The decimal system corresponds to the Arabic digits, while the alphabetic system uses the letters of a script to represent numbers. N. Ganesan submitted a proposal (L2/06-260) to encode Malayalam fractions and letter-numerals in the UCS within a block named "South Indian Supplement."

The manner of representing numerical notation in Malayalam differs significantly from the north Indian scripts. For example,  $\cap$  U+0D28 MALAYALAM LETTER NA represents "1" (Figure 31). Malayalam fractions are also written in a fashion entirely distinct from the north Indian method (Figure 32).

#### 6.4 Raqm Fractions and Rupee Mark

The *i*, *raqm* digits are an extension of the Perso-Arabic script used for the keeping of accounts in South Asia. Unlike the Arabic-Indic and Eastern Arabic-Indic digits, Raqm digits are written right-to-left. Raqm has four signs for writing fractions. It also has a rupee mark. The fraction  $\frac{1}{4}$  is indicated by the sign -; the fraction  $\frac{1}{2}$  by the sign  $\cdot$ ; the fraction  $\frac{3}{4}$  by the sign  $\frac{1}{2}$ ; and a whole by the sign  $\frac{1}{2}$ . The rupee mark appears after the fraction when currency values are written:  $2 \circ \frac{1}{2}$  "10 *rupayā* and  $\frac{1}{2} anā$ ." The *pāī* value is also written with the rupee mark, and in some cases the word " $\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\frac{1}{2}$ " one ana and 6  $pa\overline{a}$ ." In the north Indian system, the value "one  $an\overline{a}$  and 6  $p\overline{a}\overline{t}$ " would be written as .III.

### 7 References

Bhide, Ganesh Hari. 1889. *Marathi English Primer*. Bombay: Education Society's Steam Press, Byculla. Darby, Alfred. 1915. *A Primer of the Marathi Language*. Ahmednagar: Mission Press.

Dharmadhikari, S. J. 1967. *Gujarātī-Marāțhī Śabdakośa*. Āntarabhāratī, series 1. Mumbaī: Mahārāṣṭra Rajya Sahityā Aņi Saṃskrti Maṇḍaḷa.

Government of India; Ministry of Communications and Information Technology. 2004. "Encoding of Gujarati Signs Pao, Addho & Pono in Gujarati code block" (L2/04-358). http://www.unicode.org/~emuller/iwg/p20/04358-gujarati.pdf (September, 2004).

Greaves, Edwin. 1921. Hindi Grammar. Allahabad: Indian Press.

Green, Arthur O. 1895. A Practical Hindūstānī Grammer. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

- Grierson, G.A. 1899. *A Handbook to the Kaithi Character*. 2nd rev. ed. of the title *A Kaithi Handbook*, 1881. Calcutta: Thacker, Spink & Co.
- ———. 1903a. *The Linguistic Survey of India*. Vol. V. Indo-Aryan Family. Eastern Group. Part I. Specimens of the Bengali and Assamese languages. Calcutta: Office of the Superintendent of Government Printing, India.

——. 1903b. *The Linguistic Survey of India*. Vol. V. Indo-Aryan Family. Eastern Group. Part II. Specimens of the Bihārī and Oṛiyā languages. Calcutta: Office of the Superintendent of Government Printing, India.

- International Organization for Standardization. 2005. "ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 2/WG 2 N3002: Principles and Procedures for Allocation of New Characters and Scripts." (October 5, 2005). http://std.dkuug. dk/JTC1/SC2/WG2/docs/n3002.pdf.
- Jhā, Govinda [ed]. 1999. कल्याणी-कोश [= Kalyāņī-kośa (Maithilī-Amgrejī Śabda Kośa)]. Kāmeśvara Simha Bihāra Herițeja Sirīja 4. 1st ed. Darbhamgā: Mahārājādhirāja Kāmeśvara Simha Kalyānī

Phāundeśana.

- Kellogg, Samuel H. 1893. A grammar of the Hindí language: in which are treated the High Hindí, Braj, and the Eastern Hindí of the Rámáyan of Tulsi Dás, also the colloquial dialects of Rájputáná, Kumáon, Avadh, Ríwá, Bhojpúr, Magadha, Maithila, etc., with copious philological notes. 2nd ed., rev. and enl. London: K. Paul, Trench, Trubner and Co.
- महाजनीसारहिस्साअव्वलवदोयम [Mahājanīsārahissāavvalavadoyama = Primer of the Mahajani alphabet for writing Hindi]. 18–?. Dehalī: Lālā Gangādāsa Muņśī Lāla.
- Molesworth, J. T. 1857. *Marathi and English Dictionary*. 2nd ed. rev. and enl. Bombay: Bombay Education Society's Press.
- Money, G. W. P. 1942. Gurkhali Manual. 3rd ed. Bombay: Thacker & Co.
- Muller, Eric. 2004. "Clarifications on L2/04-358, Gujarati fractions." (November 7, 2004). http://www.unicode.org/~emuller/iwg/p20/utcdoc.html. Accessed June 2006.
- N. Ganesan. 2006. "Malayalam Fractions and Letter-Numerals" (L2/06-260).
- Naik, Bapurao S. 1971. *Typography of Devanagari*. 1st rev. ed. vol. 2. Bombay: Directorate of Languages, Government. of Maharashtra.
- Nārā, Īśara Simgha. 1973. *Rājā Jogī: Itihāsa Bābā Sāhiba Simgha Bedī*, Ūnām (pahilām Pañjāba huņa Himācala Pradeśa vica). Dillī: Nārā Pabalikeśanza.
- Navalkar, Ganpatrao R. 1925. The Student's Maráthí Grammar. 4th ed. Poona: Scottish Mission Press.
- Pandey, Anshuman. 2005. "Proposal to Encode the Kaithi Script in Plane 1 of ISO/IEC 10646" (L2/05-343). http://www-personal.umich.edu/~pandey/kaithi.pdf (October, 2005).
- Pořízka, Vincenc. 1972. *Hindština*. [Hindī Language Course = हिन्दी भाषा का पाठचक्रम]. Čast I [Part I]. Praha: Státní pedagogické nakladatelství.
- Rāya, Jīvanātha. 2003 [1970?]. মৌথিলী প্রথম খন্তক [Maithilī Prathama Pustaka = Maithili Primer]. Reprint of edition published by Pustaka Bhaṇḍāra, Laheriyāsarāya, Bihāra; (1970?). Mithilākṣara Puraskāra Kośa: Ekarahiyā, Mahottarī, Nepal.
- Sardesai, G. S. [ed]. 1932. *Selections from the Peshwa Daftar*. v. 22 Extracts from the Peshwas' Diaries. Bombay: Government Central Press.
- Scholberg, H. C. 1940. Concise Grammar of the Hindi Language. London: Oxford University Press.
- Tisdall, William St. Clair. 1961. A Simplified Grammar of the Gujarati Language, together with a short reading book and vocabulary. New York, F. Ungar Publishing Co.
- Vajpeyee, Pratap Narayan. 1946. The quintessence of Hindi [हिन्दी का हीर]. Madrāsa: Dakṣiṇa Bhārata Hindī Pracāra Sabhā.
- Young, A. H. 1935. First Lessons in Oriya. Revised by B. Das. Cuttack: Orissa Mission Press.

xx00 0 1 1 1 2 3 4 5 ٠ŀ 6  $\cdot \| \cdot$ 7 ·III· 8 0 9 6 А В 5 С D Е F

xx00;NORTH	INDIAN	FRACTION ONE SIXTEENTH;No;0;L;;;;1/16;N;;;;;
xx01;NORTH	INDIAN	FRACTION ONE EIGHTH; No; 0; L;;;; 1/8; N;;;;;
xx02;NORTH	INDIAN	FRACTION THREE SIXTEENTHS;No;0;L;;;;3/16;N;;;;;
xx03;NORTH	INDIAN	FRACTION ONE QUARTER; No; 0; L;;;; 1/4; N;;;;;
xx04;NORTH	INDIAN	FRACTION ONE HALF;No;0;L;;;;1/2;N;;;;;
xx05;NORTH	INDIAN	FRACTION THREE QUARTERS;No;0;L;;;;3/4;N;;;;;
xx06;NORTH	INDIAN	INDEPENDENT FRACTION ONE QUARTER;No;0;L;;;;1/4;N;;;;;
xx07;NORTH	INDIAN	INDEPENDENT FRACTION ONE HALF;No;0;L;;;;1/2;N;;;;;
xx08;NORTH	INDIAN	INDEPENDENT FRACTION THREE QUARTERS; No;0;L;;;;3/4;N;;;;;
xx09;NORTH	INDIAN	QUARTER MARK;So;0;L;;;;;N;;;;;
xx0A;NORTH	INDIAN	PLACEHOLDER MARK;So;0;L;;;;;N;;;;;
xx0B;NORTH	INDIAN	RUPEE MARK;Sc;0;ET;;;;N;;;;;
xx0C;NORTH	INDIAN	QUANTITY MARK;So;0;ET;;;;;N;;;;;

Table 1: Glyph chart and character names and properties for the North Indian Accounting Signs.

### PLATE IV.

### NUMERALS &C.

The following are the more usual forms of the Numerals.

9 1, 2 2, 3 3, 8 4, 4 5, E 6, 9 7, 6, 1, or = 8, 0 (, or = 9, 90 10.

### MONEY.

ال عوادة (One pice), No 6 pice, IN 9 pice, I táná, I 2 ánáo, I 3 ánáo, V 4 ánáo, J 5 ánáo, I 8 ánáo, I 7 ándo, V 8 ánáo, IV 9 ánáo, W 12 ánáo, JR. I. W NRs M4 The modes of writing pice differ in different districts. <u>WEIGHT</u>.

Chhatánkos -1, 5 = 2, 5 = 3, 520 4, 52 = 6 52 = 7, 520 8, 521 8, 5220 12.

Sors 69 1, 62 2, 63 3, 65 4, 64 5, 64 6, 69 7, 61 8, 60 9, 20 10, 29, 11, 11 20, 1130

9 (022= 1 Md 10 ST 10 Chilks.

### <u>Area</u>.

Dhurs 559 1, 552 2, 553 3, 558 4, 5520 5, 5529 6, 5522 7. 55220 10, 5522 11, 55220 10, 5522 11, 55220 10, 5522 1, 52 2, 53 3, 50 4, 2° 5, 29 6, 20 10, 20 15.

9012019 10 Bighas. 16 Kts. 6Dhurs.

Figure 1: Currency, weights, and measures marks that appear in Kaithi documents (from Grierson, 1899: Plate IV).

The leading feature in Indian arithmetic being the division by four, the signs for fractions are adapted thereto. The rupee is divided into  $4 \times 4 = 16$ , parts called  $a\bar{n}a$ , which are thus designated (units of all kinds are also thus divided) —

1	<i>ānā</i> or $\frac{1}{16}$	つ	9	ānās	う
<b>2</b>	änās	Ń	10	ānās	11/2)
3	ānās	É	11	ānā <b>s</b>	11)
4	änäs	5	12	ānās	5
5	ā nā s	in	13	ānās	ŵ)
6	ānā s	12	14	ā <b>n</b> ās	₩ź)
7	ānās	15	15	ānās	ќ)
8	ānās	5	On	e rupee	Ŋ.

Figure 2: System of notating currency in Kaithi using fractions and the currency mark (from Grierson, 1903b: 9).

पा	हे म्हणण्याची र्र	ोत	f	<b>नेमकी</b> ( અર્ધાના અ	แ้ะ)
$\begin{array}{l} \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{\hat{1}} = \ \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x}  \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x}  \mathbf$	બે એકા બે બે દુ ચાર બે તરી છ બે ચોક આક બે પંચા દસ બે છક બાર બે સાતા ચૌદ	बे एके बे बे दुणे चार बे त्रीक सहा बे चोक आठ बे पंचे दहा बे सक बारा बे साते चौदा	$\begin{aligned} & \{ \times \cdot    \cdot = \cdot    \cdot \\ & \times \cdot \cdot    \cdot = 1 \\ & 3 \times \cdot    \cdot = 2 \\ & 3 \times \cdot    \cdot = 2 \\ & \times \times \cdot    \cdot = 2 \\ & 1 \times \cdot    \cdot = 2 \\ & 1 \times \cdot    \cdot = 3 \\ & 5 \times \cdot    \cdot = 3 \\ & 5 \times \cdot    \cdot = 3 \\ \end{aligned}$	એક અર્ધે અર્ધો બે અર્ધે એક તીન અર્ધે દોઢ ચાર અર્ધે બે પાંચ અર્ધે અઢી છ અર્ધે ત્ર <b>ણ</b> સાત અર્ધે સાડાત્રણ	एक निम्मे निम्मे बे निम्मे एक तीन निम्मे दीड चार निम्मे दोन पांच निम्मे अडीच सहा निम्मे तीन सात निम्मे साडेतीन
२× ८=१५ २× <b>८</b> =१८ २×१०=२०	એ અક્ષ સોળ એ નવા અઢાર એ દાન વીસ	वे आठे सोळा वे नवे अठरा वे दाहे वीस	&ו  •=×	આહે અર્ધે ચાર નવ અર્ધે સાડાચાર દસે અર્ધે પાંચ	

### व्यवहारांतील पूर्णांक-अपूर्णांक

•]•	પા	पाव	૧	સવા	सब्बा	રા	સવાએ	सन्त्रादोन
-11-	અધો	अर्धां, निम्मा			दीड	રા	અઢી	अडीच
•   •	<u>પોણે</u>	पाऊण	૧ાા	પોણાએ	पावणेदोन	રાા	પોણાત્રણ	पावणेतीन

Figure 3: Excerpt from a Gujarati-Marathi dictionary showing the forms of regular and independent fractions in Gujarati and Devanagari (from Dharmadhikari, 1967: 436).

The numerical signs in Gujarātī are: 9, 2, 3,  $\mathcal{X}$ ,  $\mathcal{Y}$ ,  $\mathcal{E}$ ,  $\mathcal{O}$ ,  $\mathcal{L}$ ,  $\mathcal{C}$ ,  $\mathcal{O}$ , = 1, 2, 3, &c. Fractions are written thus: $-\frac{1}{4} = \mathsf{ol}$ ;  $\frac{1}{2} = \mathsf{oll}$ ;  $\frac{3}{4} = \mathsf{olll}$ ; as  $1\frac{1}{2} = \mathsf{ll}$ ;  $3\frac{3}{4} = \mathsf{3lll}$ .

Figure 4: An excerpt from a Gujarati grammar showing the writing of fractions after a zero (from Tisdall, 1961: 86).

Comer	नागरी	ناكرك	6000	abroia		नानारी	52
3333333333	ক	1	003	~~~~	2000	Ŧ	1
**********	रब	- mail	හණ		ဂံတတတ်	<b>3</b>	J
0101010101010101010	বা	~	બલલ	<u> પ્</u> લપ્રંપ	, <u>m</u> uy	ৰ	2
***	ঘ	2	<b>5</b> 65	6666	3566G	स	al d'
<b></b>	ন	U	20,00	e. e. e. e. e.	es ex ex ex ex	<b>Att</b>	9
HIMININIAMA	च	6	3131	3131317	ગાંચાંચા	3¥	G
<b>ગ્રેક્ડેઝે</b> ઇ છે છે છે.	. E	~7.	6666	66166	6566	4	G
9999999999999	ज	0	663	3666	666	3	3
अम्रस्म म्	ক	2.	50 50	5050505	0 50 5050	leg,	\$
2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2	र	2	<u></u>	ानापाई	3100	ys	1987.994 (p. 1
222222222222222	ð	, and	J) .	91	1.001	Lin	)I
2222222222222222	3	3	211	911	un	111	·
REARING REARING	જ	ومجم	311	MIC S	الال		)144 2
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	त	-	9	ال	الل		191
စ္မွာ စာ စာ စာ စာ စာ စာ စာ	য	is .	911 ·	101	11011		الوا
EEEEEEEEEEEE	¥ .	و	911	13	1911		2111
MUXMAXXXXX	ধ	02	اف	331	11:31	. 11	51
ଜନନନ ଜନ	ন্দ	J	ા. હા	1311	131		31
минимини	T	4	3	1311	1511		う11 当
הינת מינה המינה להיל היל היל היל היל היל היל היל היל ה	5	1	-31	131	USI		3
ининининин	ৰ	ter 1	<u>ड</u> ा। इ.॥		151	1.7	5n Sm
666666666666	¥	-1%	E	3	1	100	
andanaad	য	7	2:0	<b>E</b> 3	205	89	15

Figure 5: A specimen showing the use of fractions and the currency symbol to write  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  and  $p\bar{a}\bar{i}$  in the Mahajani script (from *Mahājanīsārahissāavvalavadoyama*, 18–?: 12).

# स्वाध्याय के लिए चुनी हुई पुस्तकें वैदिक साहित्य

वैदिक विनय १,२,३ भाग	શ્રી જીમય ૨૫)	), २।।), २।।)
वैदिक ब्रह्मचर्य-गीत	શ્રી ઝ્રમય	२)
ब्राह्मण की गौ	श्रो	(11)
वैदिक अध्यात्म विद्या	श्री भगवद्दत्त	<b>(1</b> 5
वैदिक स्वम-विज्ञान	श्री भगवइत्त	ર)
वेद गीताञ्चली [ वैदिक गीतीयां ]	श्री वेदवत	ર)
वैदिक सुक्तियां	श्री रामनाथ	(HI)
वरुण की नौका [ दो भाग ]	श्री प्रियव्रत	इ)
सोम-सरोवर, सजिल्द, अजिल्द	श्री चमूपति	2), 211)
अयवेवेदीय मन्त्र-विद्या	श्री प्रियरत	2(1)

### धार्मिक साहित्य

सन्ध्या रहस्य	श्री विश्वनाथ	ર)
धर्मापदेश १,२,३ भाग	श्री स्वामी श्रद्धानन्द	१1),१),१(1)
त्रात्ममीमांसा	श्री नन्दलाल	২)
मार्थनावली [ मेरणा देने वाली		1)
ग्रार्यसमाज श्रौर विचार संसार	श्री चमूपति	1)
कविता , मंजरी		1-)
कविता कुसुमाझली	. •	0

प्रकाशन, मन्दिर, गुरुकुल कांगड़ी विश्वविद्यालय, इरिद्वार ।

Figure 6: Pricelist for books showing the use of the rupee mark. Digits and fractions are used to denote rupee and  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  values.

'पण्डित-पुस्तकालय काशी' के शुद्ध सुन्दर और सस्ते

### संस्कृत महाग्रन्थ—

श्रीमद्भागवत भा० टी० ( पत्राकार )	२४)	मनुस्मृति भा० टी०	३)
	१४)	रुद्री	=)
श्रीमद्भागवत 'श्रीधरी' संस्कृत टीका	<b>२</b> ४)	ज्पनयनपद्धति भा० टी० ( बड़ी )	u)
श्रीमद्भागवत 'चूणिंका' संस्कृत टीका		अमरकोष संक्षिप्त भा० टी०	2)
भागवत दशमस्कन्ध भा०टी०	ح)	(बाणभट्टकृत) काद्म्बरी भा० टी०	
श्रीमद्देवीभागवत भाव्टी० पत्राकार	३२)	(सम्पूर्ण)	છ)
योगवासिष्ठ भा० टी० सम्पूर्णं	३६)	दुर्गासप्तशती भा० टी०	१)
श्रीमद्वाल्मीकीय रामायण भा० टी०	૨૪)	गरुड़पुराण मूळ ( सम्पूर्ण )	8)
वाल्मीकीय सुन्दरकाण्ड भा० टी०	३)	गरुड्पुराण 'प्रेतकल्प' भा० टी०	<b>१</b> 11)
श्रीमद्वाल्मीकीय रामायण मूूऌ	(ک	पद्धतन्त्र भा० टी०	8)
श्रीमद्देवीभागवत मूल	<u>ح</u> )	हितोपदेश भा० टी०	<u> ११)</u>
झिवपुरास मूल	१०)	कालिदासप्रन्थावली भा० टी०	(۲
श्रानन्दरामायण भा० टी०	१६)	त्रमिज्ञानशाकुन्तल भा० टी०	્ર)
<b>महा</b> कवि कल्हणकृत राजतरङ्गिणी		रघुवंश ( मल्लिनाथी टीका ) सम्प	រूर्ण ३)
भाषा टीका	२०)	रघुवंश भा० टी० सम्पूर्णं	३)
कौटिलीय ऋर्थशास्त्र भा० टी०	(ع	मेघदूत मल्लिनाथी तथा भा० टी	0
बृहत्स्तोत्ररत्नाकर (स्तोत्र-संख्या ४००	) ३)	सम्पूर्ण	111)
भैषज्यरतावली मूल	8)	कुमारसम्भव भा० टी <b>०</b> सम्पूर्ण	ર)
शाङ्गंधरसंहिता भा० टी०	୪)	रामचरितमानस	३)
<b>रसेन्द्रसा</b> रसंग्रह भा० टी०	्३)	दृष्टान्तद्ीपक	ર)
<b>माधवनि</b> दान भा० टी०	રાા)	गाँवकी कहाूनियाँ (तेखक-राहगी	र) १)
भावप्रकाशनिघरट् सटिप्पण	१॥)	जन्मपत्रफामें रङ्गीन	् ४)
नाड़ीज्ञानद्रपेण भाँ० टी०	II)	लग्नपत्रिका ( बड़ी ) १०)	सै०।
( स	ार्वत्र वि	भेळते हैं )	

Figure 7: Pricelist for books showing the use of the rupee mark. Digits and fractions are used to denote rupee and  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  values.

हानिद्सद्रकानपहरक्रिमके छापकी पुस्तक फ़ारसाः नागरीः अग्निनी कीमिल्टतीई।।जिनसाहबाक्येज धनोह कीमतभेजकरया विन्यू पेविलमगाले॥ ओर असले

**म्त्रजिनी जीया**लालज्योतिष्मलनिवासीफ़रुखनगरकायहा लनहिं। और जासहबपत्र का खरीदें वोह पत्र के सहकापदक रवरीदे वयाकिजीयालालयबबह्दतसबनबठहे औरधोक के बास्तीक सीन-अपने पत्रे परंपडित जी शालाल- जेंगरीक से ने नीयारामलिख दियाहि॥ अबनासाहबस्व सदबाह क पहल्बस्तरादिं॥ रोहो॥ जजर अमर असरण सरण अविनाणी अनि कार॥ आदिक्मार्श्यभप्रसग्रहबदाबारम्बार॥ शा क्यांकिव तसञ्पादमाधारवारवाजातह आरपश्चा असलाबम्बद औधरप्रावलालकाभोइसद्कानसमिलताँहे॥ <del>आ</del> व्यहंकसबतरहकहमार्यह्यस सांगपूरनभक्त् आनेके आरसागजामरसिंहराधारव र्भजनश्करदासके ओरभजन फ्रन्धींसह र्नागरा केमांच् दहाजस करर जरुरत हा वेल्र पविल इस मगाल्ड ॥ ग्रीगनिहायतहाउम्दाराप्रानाइनिसके चार्टनवस् नेकीकोइजरुरतनहिंहे। जोकिस्तुलिस सरसीके तल लस त्यारका ग इत्य धु सरस धु सरतेक एक इफ्रेमगाक पता × गंगालस मुन्गीलाल जेनी तानर कृतब ररी बाकलंग वे

Figure 10: The use of the rupee mark in Devanagari text (Mahājanīsārahissāavvalavadoyama, 18-2: 49).

भद्दोजी दीक्षितकृत प्रौढ मनोरमा ल्या ग्रंथावरील शब्दरत्ननामक टीका यांचें स्त्रीप्रत्ययान्त मराठींत विस्तृत विवरणासह व प्रक्रियेसह

## सुबोध भाषांतर

#### विवरणकर्ता

**कै॰ राववद्वादुर ना. दा. वाडेगांवकर,** एमृ. ए. सेवानिवृत्त डिस्ट्रिक्ट व सेशन्स जज्ज, नागपूर.



Figure 8: Title page showing the use of fractions to denote price. The abbreviation for the word  $rupay\bar{a}$  in Devanagari is used in place of the rupee mark.



Figure 9: Title page showing the use of the rupee mark and fractions to denote price.



Figure 11: Title page showing the use of the rupee mark and fractions to denote price in the Gurmukhi script. The Latin right-parenthesis is used for the rupee mark.

ਾਖਦਾਈ ਹੋ ਰਹੀ ਸੀ। ਤਾਂ ੨੫ ਜੂਨ ੧੯੫੪ ਨੂੰ ਸ਼ਾਮ ਦੇ ਪੰਜ ਵਜੇ ਕੁਝ ਮਜ਼ਦਰਾਂ ਨੂੰ ਚਮਕ-ਚਮਕ ਕਰਦਾ ਸੋਨੇ ਦੀਆਂ ਕੌਲੀਆਂ ਦਾ ਇਕ ਤੱਗਸ (ਸਿੱਟ) ਮਿਲਿਆ । ਜੋ ਕੁਝ ਸਾਬਤ ਤੇ ਇਕ ਦੋ ਤੋੜ ਕੇ ਵੰਡੀਆਂ ਪਾਲੀਤੀਆਂ। ਪਰ ਹਿੱਸਾ ਵੱਧ ਘਟ ਮਿਲਣ ਦੇ ਕਾਰਣ ਇਹ ਆਪੋ ਵਿਚ ਸਾਬਤ ਨਾ ਰਹੇ. ਤੇ ੪ ਦਿਨਾਂ ਪਿਛੋਂ ਇਕ ਨੇ ਸਾਰੀ ਗੱਲ ਬਾਤ ਉਨ੍ਹਾਂ ਦੇ ਸਹੀ ਮਾਲਕ ਬਾਬਾ ਦੇਵਿੰਦਰ ਸਿੰਘ ਜੀ ਦੇ ਸਾਹਿਬਜ਼ਾਦੇ ਬਾਬਾ ਮਧਸੂਦਨ ਸਿੰਘ ਜੀ ਨੂੰ ਜਾ ਸੁਣਾਈ। ਜਿਨ੍ਹਾਂ ਨੇ ਬੜੀ ਸਿਆਣਪ ਤੇ ਸੁਚੌਜਤਾ ਨਾਲ ਪੁਲੰਸ ਦੀ ਸਹਾਇਤਾ ਪਾਕੇ -੧੯੩ ਤੋਲੇ ਵਜ਼ਨ ਦੀਆਂ ਨੌਂ (੯) ਕੌਤੀਆਂ ਬਹਾਮਦ ਕਰ<del>ਾ ਲੀਤੀਆਂ</del> ਪ ਜੋ ਉਸ ਵੇਲੇ ਦੇ ਬਾਜ਼ਾਰੀ ਨਿਰਖ ਨਾਲ ਵੀ ਲਗ ਭਰ ੧੮੦੦੦) <u>ਅਠਾਰਾਂ ਹਗਰ</u> ਰੁਪੈ ਦੀਆਂ ਸਨ ਤੇ ਅਜ ਦੇ ਨਿਰਖ ਮੁਤਾਬੇ<del>ਕ ਕਰੀਬਨ</del> ੯੦,੦੦੦) ਰੁਪੈ ਦੇੀਆਂ ਹਨ। ਜਿਨਾਂ ਵਿਚ ੧ ਉਤੇ "ਸਾਹਿਬ ਸਿੰਘ ਬਾਬ<del>ਾ ' ਅਤੇ 8 ਉ</del>ਤੇ ''ਬਾਬਾ ਸਾਹਿਬ ਸਿੰਘ'' ਗੁਰਮੁਖੀ ਅੱਖਰਾਂ ਵਿਚ ਨਾਮ ਲਿਖਿਆ ਹੈ ਬਾਕੀ ਚਾਰ ਬੇ-ਨਾਂਵੀਆਂ ਹੀ ਹਨ\* ਇਹ ਸ੍ਰੀ ਬਾਬਾ ਸਾਹਿਬ ਸਿੰਘ ਜੀ ਦੀ ਸ਼ਾਹੀਸ਼ਾਨ ਦੀ ਧਰਤੀ ਵਲੋਂ ਵੀ ਗਵਾਹੀ ਹੈ ।

### ਅੰਤਮ ਬੇਨਤੀ ਤੇ ਸ਼੍ਰੀ ਅਕਾਲ ਪੁਰਖ ਦਾ ਧੰਨਵਾਦ

ਸ਼੍ਰੀ ਬਾਬਾ ਸਾਹਿਬ ਸਿੰਘ ਜੀ ਬੇਦੀ, ਚੇਤ ਸ਼ੁਕਲਾ ਪੱਖ ਦੀ ਪੰਚਮੀ ਸੰਮਤ ੧੮ 1੩ ਨੂੰ ਸੰਸਾਰ ਵਿਚ ਆਏ, ਅਤੇ ਹਾੜ ਸ਼ੁਦੀ ਤੁਯੋਦਸ਼ ਸੰਮਤ ੧੮੯੧ ਨੂੰ ਜੋਤੀ ਜੋਤ ਸਮਾ ਗਏ। ਇਨਾਂ ਨੇ ੭੮ ਬਰਸ

\*ਇਕ ਮਜ਼ਦਰ ਅਜੇ ਤੀਕ ਨਹੀਂ ਮਿਲਿਆ ਫਰਾਰ ਹੈ ਪਤਾ ਨਹੀਂ ਉਹਦੇ ਪਾਸ ਹੋਰ ਕਿਤਨਾ ਤੇ ਕੀ ਕਝ ਮਾਲ ਸੀ। ਮੁਕਾਮੀ ਅਫਸਰਾਂ ਦਾ ਖਿਆਲ ਹੈ ਕਿ ਇਨ੍ਹਾਂ ਕੌਲੀਆਂ ਦੇ ਨਾਲ ਦੇ ਥਾਲ ਅਤੇ ਗਲਾਸ ਗਡਵੀਆਂ ਭੀ ਹੋਣੀਆਂ ਚਾਹੀਦੀਆਂ ਹਨ। ਅਤੇ ਪੁਲੀਸ ਅਫਸਰ ਬੜੀ ਸਰਗਰਮੀ ਨਾਲ ਨੱਠੇ ਹੋਏ ਮਜ਼ਦਰ ਦੀ ਵਲਾਸ਼ ਦੀ ਕੋਸ਼ਿਸ਼ ਵਿਚ ਰਹੇ । ਅਤੇ ਅਗੋਂ ਕਿਲ੍ਹੇ ਦੀ ਹੱਦ ਅੰਦਰ ਖੁਦਾਈ ਭੀ ਬਾਬਾ ਜੀ ਦੇ ਸ ਹ੫ਣੇ ਹੋਇਆ ਕਰੇਗੀ ।

#### .512

Figure 12: The use of Latin right-parenthesis for the rupee mark in Gurmukhi text (from Nārā, 1973: 512).

170. In bookkeeping the following symbols are made use of by the Bunneahs to represent pice, annas, and rupees (3 pies=1 pice, 4 pice=1 anna, 16 annas=1 rupee).

ال one pice, ال two pice, ال three pice; \_ one anna, two annas, ≡ three annas, ⊥ four annas, ⊥ eight annas, twelve annas, ⊥ five annas and one pice, ا≡ا! six annas and two pice, اا≡ا!! fifteen annas and three pice; • one rupee, yo!! fifty rupees and eight annas; €38!!=!!! six hundred and thirty-four rupees ten annas and nine pies.

Figure 13: Excerpt from a Hindi grammar showing the conventional method of writing currency values (from Green, 1895: 153).

The following illustrate the method of writing down rupees, annas, and pice :----

For rupees, the number is written with this mark  $\zeta$  after it.  $\Upsilon = 5$  Rs.  $\Im = 2$  Rs.

For annas, a small horizontal or oblique stroke signifies 1 anna, a perpendicular stroke 4 annas, written in the same way before the mark ).

Thus - j or - j is 1 anna,  $\equiv j$  or  $\neq j$  is 3 annas, j is 4 annas,  $||| \neq j$  is 6 annas,  $||| \neq j$  is 15 annas, etc.

Pice are indicated by similar horizontal strokes written to the right hand of this J. Thus JI is 2 pice. Ji is 1 pice. **Ris** is Rs. 2-8-0. **BII** = JII is Rs. 4-10-9.

It should be noticed that, in expressing Indian money in English, the number of *pice* is never written, but the number of *pic*. Rs. 5-4-3 means 5 rupees, four annas, 3 pies (*i.e.*, 1 pice), not 3 pice.

Figure 14: Excerpt from a Hindi grammar showing variant forms of the angled fractions (from Greaves, 1921: 423–424).

हपया rupee; आना anna; पैसा pice (-3 pies). १)=Re. 1; 1)= 4 annas; -) = 1 anna, )। = 1 pice. धाड)॥ = Rs: 4-7.6; १२॥-)॥। = Rs. 12-9-9 ॥।=)। = Re. 0-14-3. I tola (तोल्डा) = 1 rupee weight; 5 tolas = chhatak (छटॉफ); 16 chhataks = 1 seer (सेर); 40 seers = 1 maund (मन) ।

Figure 15: Excerpt from a Hindi grammar showing the conventional method of writing currency values (from Vajpeyee, 1946: 24).

	Fractions.	
$rac{1}{4}$ । पात्र	23 २॥ पात्रणेतीनः	🗄 🗄 एकद्वितीयांश
<u>∄</u> ना⊢अर्घाः	$3rac{1}{4}$ <b>३</b> । सवातीन.	🗄 🍦 एकतृतीयांशः
$rac{3}{4}$ $\cdot$ ।।। $\cdot$ पाऊण $\cdot$	$3rac{1}{2}$ ः।। साडेतीन	🕴 🛓 एकचनुर्थांश
$1rac{1}{4}$ श सब्दा	$3^{\circ}_{4}$ ३॥। पावणेचार.	🗄 🔓 एकपंचमांश.
$1rac{1}{2}$ ्श। दींड $\cdot$	41 ४। सवाचार	🗄 🗄 एकराष्ठांश.
$1rac{3}{4}$ ्।।। पावणेदोन $\cdot$	$4rac{1}{2}$ ४॥ साडेचार.	🗄 🖁 एकसप्तमांश.
$2rac{1}{4}$ २। सवादोन $\cdot$	$4 rac{1}{4}$ ४॥। पात्रणेपांच.	$rac{1}{2}$ $rac{1}{2}$ एकअष्टमांदा.
2ৡ <b>২</b> ॥ <b>अ</b> डीच	•	<sub>र्नेण</sub> रहे एकदशांश.

Figure 16: An excerpt from a Marathi grammar showing the writing of fractions (from Bhide, 1889: 80).

#### Fractional Numbers.

$\frac{1}{4}$	.।. पाव.
12 34	.u. અર્घા-ર્ધી-ર્ધે, &c.
	.॥।. पाऊण
$1\frac{1}{4}$	१। सब्वा.
$1\frac{1}{2}$	१॥. दीड.
$1\frac{3}{4}$	१॥।. पावणेदोन, पाउणेदोन.
$2\frac{1}{4}$	२। सब्वादोन.
$2\frac{1}{2}$	२॥. अडीच.
$2\frac{3}{4}$	२॥।. पावणेतीन, पाउणेतीम.
$3\frac{1}{4}$	३। सब्वातीन.
$3\frac{1}{2}$	३॥. साडेतीन
$3\frac{3}{4}$	३॥।. पाबणेचार, पाउणेचार.

Figure 17: An excerpt from a Marathi grammar showing variant forms of the independent fractions (from Navalkar, 1925: 80).

Then rupees are written full, pavalis with vertical strokes. annas with horizontal strokes, pice with vertical, and any remaining pies are written fully; *e.g.* 3 Rupees 10 annas 11 pies is equal to 3 Rupees 2 pavalis, 2 annas, 3 pice and 2 pies and is written  $\exists || = ||| \exists$ . If any item is omitted, the sign  $\delta$  ( $\exists |d|$ ) is inserted, as  $\exists$  Rupees  $\exists$  annas is  $\exists \delta =$  and the sign  $\delta$  means 'no pavalis;' But when no rupees are to be written, a zero is put before the pavali stroke.

In reading these figures only rupees, annas, and pies are enunciated, the pavalis being counted in the annas and the pice in the pies, thus  $\exists || = ||| \exists || \exists read \ \exists | \ v(u) u | u = v(u)$  आणे दोन पै.

Figure 18: An excerpt from a Marathi grammar showing the writing of the placeholder mark (from Darby, 1915: 106).

with f( and f( a

Figure 19: An excerpt from a Marathi dictionary for the entry  $\Im a \widehat{a} (a|\widehat{\imath})$ , whose third definition describes the placeholder mark and shows its historical variants (from Molesworth, 1857: 58).

**213.** A special notation is employed to denote the subdivisions of the rupee. It is to be observed that the rupee is subdivided into sixteen *áne*, and each *áná* again into four *paise*. These are denoted as follows:—One *paisá*, \_); two *paise*, \_)||; three *paise*, \_)||; one *áná*, \_); two *áne*, =); three *áne*,  $\equiv$ ); four *áne*, ]); eight *áne*, ]); twelve *áne*,  $\equiv$ ). These, again, are combined, after the following manner:— Five *áne* and one *paisá*, []; six *áne* and two *paise*, [=)||; eleven *áne* and three *paise*,  $\parallel \equiv$ )||; fourteen *áne* and one *paisá*,  $\parallel \equiv$ ]; one rupee, 9); thirty rupees and four *áne*,  $\exists 0$ ]; two hundred and thirty-five rupees, seven *áne* and two *paise*,  $\exists \exists | l \equiv$ )||.

Figure 20: Excerpt from a Hindi grammar showing the conventional method of writing currency values (from Kellogg, 1893: 147).

सुक्का = 4 आना। पाइ = 5 दाम। कौड़ी = 16 दन्ति।

aर्ग-मान : Measures									
स्थानीय : Loc	al	दाशमिक	: Metric	ब्रिटिश : British					
एकक	वर्ग गज	वर्ग मीटर	हेक्टर	वर्ग फुट	एकड़				
बिगहा/कुरबा = 20 कट्ठा	3600	3010.058	.301	32400	.7438				
कट्ठा = 20 धूर	180	150.494	.01505	1619.9	.03719				
धूर = 16 कनमा	9	7.525	.0008	81	.0019				
कनमा .	0.5625	.4703	.00005	5.0625	.00012				
हेक्टर	11960	10000		10769	2.471				
एकड़	4840	4047	.4046	43559.93					
A लेखन—१।ऽ।।३ = एक बिग	ाहा पाँच कट्ठा ते	रिह धूर। २॥२:	১।२ = दू बिगह	ा बारह कट्ठा सा	त धूर।				
सारणी VIII : TABLE VIII मुद्रा : Money									
-	नवीन मुद्रा (Current coin)— टाका/रुपैआ = 100 पाइ/पैसा। प्राचीन मुद्रा (Obsolate coins)— टाका = 16 आना आना = 4 पाइ। दाम = 20 कौड़ी।								

सारणी	VII	:	TABLE	VII
-------	-----	---	-------	-----

В	लेखन	<u>—१</u> 1)	)२॥ =	एक	टाका	दस	आना	े दू	पाइ।	१।)	1115	Ħ	एक	टाका	सात	आना	ं तीन	' पाइ।
Ci ana		A tob	la char		tha	ta		F			and	~~~~			otion		h. 1	<i>Inithili</i>

Figure 21: A table showing the system of measures and currency notation in the Maithili script (from Jhā, 1999: 691). Example (A) shows notation for measures using avagraha to represent the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK. Example (B) shows currency notation using the Latin rightparenthesis to represent the NORTH INDIAN RUPEE MARK.

पाइ	স্থা	ना	राका		कनमा	सेर
1)1	1)0/1	N		1	5/	SIIN/
Du	)୶1	10/.	1110/	*	Sol	1110
<u>þ</u> in	)0/11	12	1112		59/	
51	)∿	11)	5)	*	50	S111 o/ S111 o/
61	)%	IV.	3)/		50	55
5/1	)v∕II	110/	5)~	*	512	53/
621	) <b>γ</b> ∥I	112	3)4	*	Sllo	224
		47			sI/	522
1)0/		)	2 )		slla	5510

Figure 22: A method of writing currency — pāī (पाई), ānā (आना), and tākā (टाका) — and weight — kanamā (कनमा) and ser (सेर) — in the Maithili script (from Raya, 1970?: 39). The rupee mark used here resembles the right-parenthesis. The BENGALI CURRENCY NUMERATOR ONE, BENGALI CURRENCY NUMERATOR TWO, and the Maithili form of BENGALI CURRENCY NUMERATOR THREE, 9, are used to write the quarter units of currency.

11. V devanágarském písmě píše se čtvrt značkou l (pro čtvrthodiny, čtvrtrupie ap., srov. § 157,2), půl ll, tři čtvrti lll. Např.:  $\mathfrak{Pl}$ ,  $1\frac{1}{4}$ ,  $\mathfrak{Pll}$ ,  $1\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\mathfrak{Plll}$ ,  $1\frac{3}{4}$  atd. 11. In the Devanāgarī script, a quarter is denoted by the sign l (for a quarter of an hour or of a rupee, etc., cf. § 157, 2), half by ll, three quarters by lll. E. g.:  $ql'1\frac{1}{4}$ ,  $qll'1\frac{1}{2}$ ,  $qlll'1\frac{3}{4}$ , etc.

Figure 23: Excerpt from a Hindi grammar indicating the use of fractions to write time notation (Pořízka, 1972: 162).

V údajích ceny se píše na	př.: Price is written, e.g.:	
হ. ४,०० (হ০ ४-০০) ২ হ.	pět rupií' 'five rupees'	an a
र. ४,३० ,pět rupií 30 nový	ch paisů' 'five rupees 30 naye pa	ise'.
2. Stará měnová soustava:	2. The old coinage system:	
1 rupie (रुपया rup(a)yā m.) = 1 án (आना ānā m.) = 4 pais 1 pais (पैसा paisā m.) = 3 pá पाई pāi f. ,páí	y 1 anna (आना ana m.) = 4 pice	e
Značky, kterých se užívá v garském písmě:	devaná- Signs used in the Devanāga	urī Script:
۹) ,jedna rupie' ال ,čtvrt rupie' (srov. § 61, ال ,jeden án' ال ,čtvrt ánu' (tj. jeden pais , jedna páí'	'one anna'	
V anglických textech píší se jen rupie, ány a páí:	Eislicemi In English texts, figures a used to denote rupees, annas	-
$\left. \begin{array}{c} & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & & \\ & $	rupie 8 ánů' '4 rupees 8 annas'	
$\xi    =  =$ Rs 5-14-8 (= Rs 5/14/8)	rupií 14 ánů 8 páí '5 rupees 14 annas 8	pies'.

Figure 24: Excerpt from a Hindi grammar showing the conventional method of writing currency values (from Pořízka, 1972: 514).

#### NUMERALS, §§62-7

89

#### 90 CONCISE HINDI GRAMMAR

प्रादमी मेले में शामिल हुए, 'Nearly a hundred thousand people were at the fair'.

§65. एक is sometimes used where the English would use the indefinite article 'a', but more often it is used when the definite idea of 'one' is desired, as in एक चम्मच लाग्रो, 'Bring one spoon'; चम्मच लाग्रो, 'Bring a spoon'.

§66. The idea of 'one or two' is expressed by दो एक; 'two or three' by दो तीन; 'fifteen or twenty' by पन्द्रह बीस; 'four or five' by पाँच चार or by चार पांच; 'five or ten minutes' by एक दस पांच मिनट, etc. These expressions are as irregular as they are indefinite.

27

§67. The special notation for keeping accounts is of interest to all who go shopping, or who wish to keep accounts. Note that the rupee is divided into four 'four-anna bits' (चौ आने), and a चौ आना into four 'annas', and the anna into four 'pice'. These are then written as follows:—One pice JI; two pice JII; three pice JIII; one anna  $_J$ ; two annas  $_J$ ; three annas  $_{\Xi}$ ; four annas J; two annas  $_{I}$ ; six annas  $_{I=J}$ ; seven annas  $_{I=J}$ ; eight annas IJ; twelve annas III; fifteen annas III=J; one rupee  $_J$ . Combinations are made in this way: five annas and one pice  $_{I=JII}$ ; six annas and two pice  $_{I=JII}$ ; seven annas and three pice  $_{I=JIII}$ ; eleven annas and three pice  $\|\| \le \| \|\|$ ; two rupees, fourteen annas and one pice  $\|\| \le \| \| \| \le \| \| \| \| \| \| \|$ . Care must be taken when writing these out in the English notations: here the full number of annas is written out, and instead of pice we take account of pies. The pice must be multiplied by three to get the right number of pies.

§68. Weights have a similar notation beginning with one chhatank (खटाँक). The table of weights followed in a large part of India is as follows:—

5 tolas (तोले) equals one chhatank.

4 chhatanks equals one pao (पाव).

16 chhatanks equals one seer (सेर).

40 seers equals one maund (मन).

(a) The following illustrates the system of weight notation:---

one chhatank, एक छटांक 5-2 chhatank, दो छटांक 5= 3 chhatank. तीन छटांक 5= one pao, एक पाव 51 1<sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> pao, सवा पाव 51- $1\frac{1}{2}$  pao, डेढपाव 51= 1<sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> pao, पौने दो पाव si≡ 2 pao, दो पाव 5II

2¼ pao,	सवा दो पाव	511-
2½ pao,	ढाई पाव	511=
2 <sup>3</sup> / <sub>4</sub> pao,	पौने तीन पाव	SII≡
3 pao,	तीन पाव	االک
3 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> pao,	सवा तीन पाव	-١١١
3½ pao,	साढ़े तीन पाव	5111=
3ª pao,	पौने चार पाव	S111 ≡
one seer,	एक सेर	58
9 seer,	नौ सेर	٤٤
10 seer,	दस सेर	15
11 seer,	ग्यारह सेर	58
19 seer,	उन्नीस सेर	ISE
20 seer,	बीस सेर	115
21 seer,	इक्कीस सेर	1158
29 seer,	उन्तीस सेर	IISE
30 seer,	तीस सेर	115
31 seer,	इकतीस सेर	11158
39 seer,	उनतालीस सेर	IIISE
one maund,	एक मन	85

NUMERALS, §§ 67-9

(b) Combinations may be made as follows:—
18 seer, 2 pao and 3 chhatank is y=n=
2 maund, 25 seer, 3 pao, 1 chhatank is Riykin...

§69. The ordinals (कमबोधक) up to 'sixth' are irregular, as follows:--पहला or पहिला 'first'; दूसरा 'second'; तीसरा 'third'; चौथा 'fourth'; पाँचवाँ 'fifth';

Figure 25: Excerpts from a Hindi grammar illustrating the writing of currency and weight notation in Devanagari using the currency and quantity marks (from Scholberg, 1940: 89–91).

282

प्रांती सरकार कामास होते त्यांनी राहाहून घेतले. पुढे मदगिरी नजीक टिपूचा छापा पडला. लोक जखमी झाले. घोडी पाडाव गेली. जखमी वगैरे लोक लष्करांत आले त्यांची गणती वगैरे घेऊन रोजमुरे दिले.

बळवंतराव बापूजी यास जखमा भारी याजकरिता निरोप घेऊन घरी गेले बद्दल २०० रु.

No. 252]

छ १५ जिलकाद

[23-5-1796

१७४०॥≈ श्रीमंत माहाराज राजश्री छत्रपति स्वामी यंाजकडे सातारियास राजश्री चिमणाजी माधवराव यास पेशवाईचे पदाची वस्त्रे आणावयास त्रिंबकराव अमृतेश्वर पेठ्ये पाठविले होते त्यास तेथे खर्च जाहाला तो गुाा सिदोजी कांट्या खिजमतगार.

**५४०॥**= नजर करावयास

१०८८= माहाराज यांस १०८८= मातोश्री आईसोो यांस १०८८= राजश्री प्रतापराव पुत्र यांस १०८८= वाडा पहिला १०८८= वाडा दुसरा

१२०० इनाम<sub>्</sub>माहोराज यांज-कडील शागीर्दपेशा

वगैरे यांस नख्त.

No. 253]

[23-5-1796

छ १५ जिल्काद

राजश्री चिमणाजी माधवराव यांस पेशवाईची वस्त्रे सातारियाहून आणली; सबब दिाा हजारत सनग येकून आंख

श्रीमंत माहाराज राजश्री छत्रपती यांजकडील मंडळी.

३३४ निळकंठ बाबूराव मजमदार <mark>यांस सनगे</mark> 2549

Figure 26: An excerpt from Peshwa records in Devanagari transliteration from Modi script showing the use of the placeholder mark (from Sardesai, 1932: 143). The currency notation 2056 indicates "108 *rupayā*, 0 *pavalī*, and 2 *ānā*."

337

13	Characters for <i>Mātrā</i> Combinations (3/4 body).	ुक खगघ च छ ज झी टठडढणतथ दधन
	(0)+ <b>D</b> 0 <b>U</b> 3).	पफब भ म } यर ऌव श ष सहळक्ष ज्ञ {
14	H alf letters $(a)$ Consonants.	न र र र र र र र र र र र र र र र र र र र
		ं ज्रहे झे बहु हु च र्
15	Vowel Symbols full body.	
16	Vowel Symbols (a) Mātrā Degree.	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ } 22
17	Vowel Symbols (b) Ukār Degree.	Sance 6
18	Letters *for conjuncts on	उक्त ऌ ॡंक खगजढ े 16
19	Ukār degree. Conjunct letters Full body.	स     म     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प     प </td
20	Figures.	१२३४५६७८९० 10
21	Punctuation marks & signs.	$ \begin{array}{c} \cdot & \cdot & \cdot & \cdot \\ \bullet & - & \cdot & \cdot & \cdot \\ \bullet & \bullet & * & \bullet \\ s & * & + & t & s & * \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \cdot & \cdot & \cdot & \cdot & \cdot \\ \bullet & \bullet & \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \bullet & \bullet & \bullet \\ \bullet & \bullet &$
22	Spaces.	3 to Pica, 4 to Pica, 6 to Pica, Quad ems 2, 3, 4, 8 $1\frac{1}{2}$ .
23	Degrees.	$6, 5, 4, 3, 2\frac{1}{2}, 2, 1\frac{1}{2}, 1\frac{1}{4}, 1, \frac{3}{4}$ 10
• 1:	ferior letters for use a	Total $609$

Figure 27: A specimen from the Nirnaya-Sagar Devanagari font showing the placeholder mark and the six fractions (from Naik, 1971: Table 57, after p.337). It is likely that the signs for the fractions  $\frac{1}{4}$  and  $\frac{1}{2}$  are used for *dandā* and double *dandā*.

396

Vowel-signs, Figures and Conjuncts									
T	ţ	f	f	۲.	f	f	Ť	*	•
6/224	6/225	6/147	6/148	7/220	6/149	6/150	6/258	5/261 <b>*</b>	5/262*
5/165	5/169	5/173*	5/166	5/1 ~*	70	5/167	5	/171*	5/238•
•	4	/160 5/16	່		5/162	5/16	3 <u>11/47</u> 2	٤.	,
		152 11/472 259* 5/260			5/175	ء 5/172	7/265 ۹ 5/314 <b>*</b>		5/126
S	1		;	. !		?	(	) – 131 12/127	6/126
<b>9</b> 12/50	₹ 02 /108 ]	२ 12/109 1	1/110 11/	8 /111 [ 12		2] 12	६ /113 12	ح 114 [ /115]	5 12/230
E 12/237	९ 12/116	5*] <b>0</b> 12/11	ح 7 12/118	* 12/255	12/ <b>2</b> 6	三 7 12/26	8 12/27	ل 0 5/264	/351
कृ 13/91	<b>ත</b> 11/466	ञ्च 5* 12/46	ह 10/2:		5 254 11	ੁੱ  233	ुड्ड 11/222*	ङ्ख 11/257	,
₹ 9/72 Space		र 8/556 1 6/U	श्व 1/467 <b>*</b> 8/U 1	<b>श्रेव</b> 11/468* 12/U.	ह 12/9	3	6/226	6/239	*

TYPOGRAPHY OF DEVANAGARI

351. Monotype Devnagari design in 12 pt. (9 set) is based on Nirnayasagar Pica No. 1 and is not much distinguishable to a common reader. The larger versions 14 pt. and 16pt. are the enlargements of 12 pt. design and have no relation to the original Nirnayasagar design of 14 pt. Great face. In all the three cases the Monotype face is wider as compared to the height of the letters. Following deficiencies are inherent in the Monotype Devanagari currently in use :

(1) The Velanti f f and Velanti-rafar f  $\bar{c}$  f overhang. They do not meet the vertibar of the letter i.e. ( $\pi$ ).

(2) The Ukārs cast on high-speces do not fit properly, distorting the look of the letter ( कुणनी).

(3) The *Mātrās* and *Ukārs* do not touch the headline and the Vertibar ( $\hat{H}ar$ ,  $\eta \pi \eta$ ).

(4) The double  $m\bar{a}tr\bar{a}s$  are too small  $(\bar{r}\bar{r}\bar{r})$ .

(5) Letter z is disproportionate in height.

(6) Letter ऋ, and conjuncts of ह, ङ, द are disproportionate.

ध्र, भ्र, म are wide in set. Letters like ख are not available.

Figure 28: A specimen showing the placeholder mark, quantity mark, and three fraction signs as available in the Monotype Devanagari font for the Monotype machine (from Naik, 1971: Table 61, after p.396). The star after the matrix number indicates outside-characters. The Monotype Devanagari design is based on Nirnaya-Sagar Pica No. 1. The glyph labeled "7/265" is the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK; "12/118" is the NORTH INDIAN PLACEHOLDER MARK; and "12/266," "12/267," and "12/268" are NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE SIXTEENTH, NORTH INDIAN FRACTION ONE EIGHTH, and NORTH INDIAN FRACTION THREE SIXTEENTHS, respectively. Glyphs for the fractions one quarter, one half, and three quarters are absent, but presumably, might be created through additive application of the *dandā*. Note the distinct between the NORTH INDIAN QUANTITY MARK and the *avagraha*, which appears as glyph "7/219."



Figure 29: Annexure II from the proposal submitted by the Government of India to encode Gujarati fractions (from Government of India, 2004). The fraction signs appear in an advertisement for movie theaters from August 2004. They represent 15 (1), 30 (11), or 45 (111) minutes of an hour. The times shown for the PAO examples are 12:15, 3:15, 7:15, and 9:15. The times shown for the ADDHO examples are 3:30, 7:30, and 9:30. The times shown for the PONO example are 12:45, 3:45, 7:45, and 9:45.

'The leading feature in Indian arithmetic being the division by four, the signs for fractions are adapted thereto. The rupee is divided into  $4 \times 4 = 16$  parts, called  $\bar{a}n\bar{a}$  which are thus designated (units of all kinds are also thus divided) :--

1 ānā or 1	10	5 ānās 1/0	9ānās n∕∘	13 ānās 🗤 🛛
2 ānās	a/ o	6 ānās io/o	10 ānās 🕪 •	14 ānās vo∕∙
3 ānās	e o b	7 ānās 100	11 ānās 11100	15 ānās 🗤 •
4 ānās or 🗼	10	8 ānās or 🛓 🕪	12 ānās or 🛔 🕠 '	

Figure 30: Method of writing fractions and currency in the Bengali script (from Grierson, 1903a: 29)

ന	ന്ന	Ŷ	(GH	௵	ഹാ	S	പ	ശി
na	nna	nya	şkra	jhra	hā	gra	pra	dre
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Ø	ம	ല	പ്പ	ബ	0	@	ഫ	ണ
ma	tha	la	pta	ba	tra	rū	cha	ņa
10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90
ഞ			4					
ña								
100								

Figure 31: The method of writing numerals in Malayalam (from Ganesan, 2006).

,	ആയിരം നം = 1000	(73.03 (m=100)		ം 1 - മം നേട്
	10 ong Q = 2	a ma m=3	നാല് ര : 4	അബ് இ = 5
	ആറ്റ ന്ന = 6	୦୫୪ ୭ = ७	୶ଡ଼ୢୢୖୢୢ ୠୢ=ଌ	ഒമ്പയ്യ് നു = 9
	ଣ୍ଡ-ഞാൻ ଜ୍ୟ = <u>=</u>	ශාල ශ රම = <u>1</u> 2	560£° 67 =1 4	അരക്കാല് പന് <sup>ച</sup> = <u>1</u> 8
	രങ്ങുമാ സ = <u>1</u>	മാ കാണി ഘ = <u>1</u> 16	ಈಡಾ ದಿಂ <i>୮</i> ೮ = <u>1</u> 20	$\begin{array}{c} (3000 \ D) \\ (300 \ D) \ D) \\ (300 \ D) \ (300 \ D) \\ (300 \ D) \ D) \ (300 \ D) \ (300 \ D) \ D) \ (300 \ D) \ (300 \ D) \ D) \ (300 \ D) \ (3$
	ත <b>ා</b> ണി ග = <u>1</u> හ	$m_0 a m m_1$ $\omega = \frac{1}{160}$	ಧ್ರಣಾಗಿಡಿ ್ವ = <u>1</u> -ನ = <u>1</u> 20	නීප් භාව 1 320 (1/4)
	കൃന്നു കാണി 12 = <del>3</del>	നാല് മാ ഗ് <del>ച്</del> ച്ച്	എന്നു മാ ൝= <u>3</u> 20	$\begin{array}{c} 470(2 + 3) \\ (1) \\ (1) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) \\ (2) $

Figure 32: The method of writing fractions in Malayalam (from Ganesan, 2006).